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Use of These Sample Disclosures
The sample disclosures in this document reflect accounting and disclosure requirements outlined in SEC Regulation 
S-K, SEC Regulation S-X, and ASC 7401 that are effective as of December 31, 2014. SEC registrants should also 
consider pronouncements that were issued or effective subsequently that may be applicable to the financial 
statements, as well as other professional literature such as AICPA audit and accounting guides.

Portions of certain sample disclosures in this document are based on actual disclosures from public filings. Details 
that would identify the registrants have been removed, including dollar amounts and specific references to the 
business.

The sample disclosures are intended to provide general information only. While entities may use them to help 
assess whether they are compliant with U.S. GAAP and SEC requirements, they are not all-inclusive and additional 
disclosures may be deemed necessary by entities or their auditors. Further, the sample disclosures are not a 
substitute for understanding reporting requirements or for the exercise of judgment. Entities are presumed to  
have a thorough understanding of the requirements and should refer to accounting literature and SEC regulations 
as necessary.

1	 FASB Accounting Standards Codification Topic 740, Income Taxes. For titles of other FASB Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) references, see Deloitte’s 
“Titles of Topics and Subtopics in the FASB Accounting Standards Codification.”

	 This publication contains general information only and Deloitte is not, by means of this publication, rendering accounting, business, financial, investment, legal,  
tax, or other professional advice or services. This publication is not a substitute for such professional advice or services, nor should it be used as a basis for any 
decision or action that may affect your business. Before making any decision or taking any action that may affect your business, you should consult a qualified 
professional advisor.

http://www.iasplus.com/en-us/publications/us/other/codtopics
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis — General
Before the enactment of tax law proposals or changes to existing tax rules, SEC registrants should consider whether 
the potential changes represent an uncertainty that management reasonably expects could have a material effect 
on the results of operations, financial position, liquidity, or capital resources. If so, registrants should consider 
disclosing information about the scope and nature of any potential material effects of the changes.

After the enactment of a new tax law, registrants should consider disclosing, when material, the anticipated 
current and future impact of the law on their results of operations, financial position, liquidity, and capital 
resources. In addition, registrants should consider disclosures in the critical accounting estimates section of 
management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A) to the extent that the changes could materially affect existing 
assumptions used in estimating tax-related balances.

The SEC staff expects registrants to provide early-warning disclosures to help users understand various risks and 
how these risks potentially affect the financial statements. Examples of such risks include situations in which (1) the 
registrant may have to repatriate foreign earnings to meet current liquidity demands, resulting in a tax payment 
that may not be accrued for; (2) the historical effective tax rate is not sustainable and may change materially;  
(3) the valuation allowance on net deferred tax assets may change materially; and (4) tax positions taken during 
the preparation of returns may ultimately not be sustained. Early-warning disclosures give investors insight into the 
underlying assumptions made by management and conditions and risks facing an entity before a material change 
or decline in performance is reported.

MD&A — Results of Operations

See SEC Regulation S-K, Item 303, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations.”

Sample Disclosure — Results of Operations
Our effective tax rate for fiscal years 20X3, 20X2, and 20X1 was XX percent, XX percent, and XX percent, 
respectively. Our tax rate is affected by recurring items, such as tax rates in foreign jurisdictions and the relative 
amounts of income we earn in those jurisdictions, which we expect to be fairly consistent in the near term. It 
is also affected by discrete items that may occur in any given year but are not consistent from year to year. In 
addition to state income taxes, the following items had the most significant impact on the difference between our 
statutory U.S. federal income tax rate of XX percent and our effective tax rate:

20X3

1.	 A $XXX (XX percent) reduction resulting from changes in unrecognized tax benefits for tax positions taken 
in prior periods, related primarily to favorable developments in an IRS position.

Note: A detailed explanation of the change and the amount previously recorded as an unrecognized tax 
benefit would be expected.

2.	 A $XXX (XX percent) increase resulting from multiple unfavorable foreign audit assessments.

Note: A detailed explanation of the change and the amount previously recorded as an unrecognized tax 
benefit would be expected.

3.	 A $XXX (XX percent) reduction resulting from rate differences between U.S. and non-U.S. jurisdictions. No 
U.S. taxes were provided for those undistributed foreign earnings that are indefinitely reinvested outside 
the United States.

Note: A discussion of the countries significantly affecting the overall effective rate would be expected.

4.	 A $XXX (XX percent) increase from noncash impairment charges for goodwill that is nondeductible for tax 
purposes.
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20X2 

1. A $XXX (XX percent) increase resulting from the resolution of U.S. state audits.

2. A $XXX (XX percent) increase resulting from a European Commission penalty, which was not tax
deductible.

3. A $XXX (XX percent) reduction resulting from rate differences between U.S. and non-U.S. jurisdictions.

Note: The notes accompanying the 20X3 items above also apply to 20X2.

20X1 

1. A $XXX (XX percent) reduction resulting from the reversal of previously accrued taxes from an IRS
settlement.

2. A $XXX (XX percent) reduction resulting from rate differences between U.S. and non-U.S. jurisdictions.

Note: The notes accompanying the 20X3 items above also apply to 20X1.

Note: Regulation S-K, Item 303(a)(3)(ii) requires registrants to “[d]escribe any known trends or uncertainties 
that have had or that the registrant reasonably expects will have a material favorable or unfavorable impact on 
net sales or revenues or income from continuing operations.” The sample disclosures below present various 
descriptions registrants might provide under this requirement.

Sample Disclosure — Effects in Future Periods of Tax Costs Related to Intra-Entity Sale of 
Intellectual Property
We recorded deferred charges during the year ended December 31, 20X1, related to the deferral of income tax 
expense on intercompany profits that resulted from the sale of our intellectual property rights (including intellectual 
property acquired during the current year) outside North and South America to our subsidiary in Country X. The 
deferred charges are included in the “prepaid expenses and other current assets” and “other assets” lines of the 
consolidated balance sheets in the amounts of $XXX and $XXX, respectively. The deferred charges are amortized 
as a component of income tax expense over the five-year economic life of the intellectual property.

Note: The tax associated with intra-entity asset transfers should be accounted for under ASC 740-10-25-3(e) 
and ASC 810-10-45-8. In some cases, these transactions could significantly affect the consolidated financial 
statements. Entities should discuss the nature of those transactions and their current and future financial 
statement effects. 

Sample Disclosure — Early Warning of Possible Valuation Allowance Recognition in Future 
Periods

As of December 31, 20X1, we had approximately $XX million in net deferred tax assets (DTAs). These DTAs include 
approximately $XX million related to net operating loss carryforwards that can be used to offset taxable income 
in future periods and reduce our income taxes payable in those future periods. Many of these NOL carryforwards 
will expire if they are not used within certain periods. At this time, we consider it more likely than not that we will 
have sufficient taxable income in the future that will allow us to realize these DTAs. However, it is possible that 
some or all of these NOL carryforwards could ultimately expire unused, especially if our component X restructuring 
initiative is not successful. Therefore, unless we are able to generate sufficient taxable income from our component 
Y operations, a substantial valuation allowance to reduce our U.S. DTAs may be required, which would materially 
increase our expenses in the period the allowance is recognized and materially adversely affect our results of 
operations and statement of financial condition. 

Sample Disclosure — Early Warning of Possible Valuation Allowance Reversal in Future 
Periods
We recorded a valuation allowance against all of our deferred tax assets as of both December 31, 20X2, and 
December 31, 20X1. We intend to continue maintaining a full valuation allowance on our deferred tax assets 
until there is sufficient evidence to support the reversal of all or some portion of these allowances. However, 
given our current earnings and anticipated future earnings, we believe that there is a reasonable possibility that 
within the next 12 months, sufficient positive evidence may become available to allow us to reach a conclusion 
that a significant portion of the valuation allowance will no longer be needed. Release of the valuation allowance 



4

would result in the recognition of certain deferred tax assets and a decrease to income tax expense for the period 
the release is recorded. However, the exact timing and amount of the valuation allowance release are subject to 
change on the basis of the level of profitability that we are able to actually achieve.

Note: Companies should specify the positive and negative evidence they evaluated, the jurisdiction, and the 
potential amount of valuation allowance that may be recognized or reversed.

Sample Disclosure — Change in Tax Laws Affecting Future Periods
Changes in tax laws and rates may affect recorded deferred tax assets and liabilities and our effective tax rate in 
the future. In January 20X4, country X made significant changes to its tax laws, including certain changes that 
were retroactive to our 20X3 tax year. Because a change in tax law is accounted for in the period of enactment, 
the retroactive effects cannot be recognized in our 20X3 financial results and instead will be reflected in our 20X4 
financial results. We estimate that a benefit of approximately $XXX will be accounted for as a discrete item in 
our tax provision for the first quarter of 20X4. In addition, we expect this tax law change to favorably affect our 
estimated annual effective tax rate for 20X4 by approximately X percentage points as compared to 20X3.

MD&A — Critical Accounting Estimates2 

See SEC Interpretation Release Nos. 33-8350, 34-48960, FR-72, “Commission Guidance Regarding 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.“

Sample Disclosure
Our income tax expense, deferred tax assets and liabilities, and liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits reflect 
management’s best estimate of current and future taxes to be paid. We are subject to income taxes in the United 
States and numerous foreign jurisdictions. Significant judgments and estimates are required in the determination of 
the consolidated income tax expense.

Deferred income taxes arise from temporary differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their 
reported amounts in the financial statements, which will result in taxable or deductible amounts in the future. In 
evaluating our ability to recover our deferred tax assets in the jurisdiction from which they arise, we consider all 
available positive and negative evidence, including scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities, projected future 
taxable income, tax-planning strategies, and results of recent operations. In projecting future taxable income, 
we begin with historical results adjusted for the results of discontinued operations and incorporate assumptions 
about the amount of future state, federal, and foreign pretax operating income adjusted for items that do not 
have tax consequences. The assumptions about future taxable income require the use of significant judgment and 
are consistent with the plans and estimates we are using to manage the underlying businesses. In evaluating the 
objective evidence that historical results provide, we consider three years of cumulative operating income (loss).

As of December 31, 20X3, we have federal and state income tax net operating loss (NOL) carryforwards of $XXX 
and $XXX, which will expire on various dates from 20X4 through 20Y8 as follows:

20X4–20X8 $ 	XXX

20X9–20Y3 		 XXX

20Y4–20Y8 	 XXX

$	 XXX

We believe that it is more likely than not that the benefit from certain state NOL carryforwards will not be realized. 
In recognition of this risk, we have provided a valuation allowance of $XX on the deferred tax assets related to 
these state NOL carryforwards. If our assumptions change and we determine that we will be able to realize these 
NOLs, the tax benefits related to any reversal of the valuation allowance on deferred tax assets as of December 
31, 20X3, will be accounted for as follows: approximately $XXX will be recognized as a reduction of income tax 
expense and $XXX will be recorded as an increase in equity.

2	 At the 2013 AICPA Conference on Current SEC and PCAOB Developments (the “AICPA Conference”), in remarks related to disclosures about valuation allowances 
on deferred tax assets, the SEC staff discouraged registrants from providing “boilerplate” information and instead recommended that they discuss registrant-
specific factors (e.g., limitations on their ability to use net operating losses and foreign tax credits). The SEC staff also stated that it has asked registrants to 
disclose the effect of each source of taxable income on their ability to realize a deferred tax asset, including the relative magnitude of each source of taxable 
income. In addition, the staff recommended that registrants consider disclosing the material negative evidence they evaluated, since such disclosures could 
provide investors with information about uncertainties related to a registrant’s ability to recover a deferred tax asset. For additional information, see Deloitte’s 
December 16, 2013, Heads Up on the AICPA Conference.

http://www.iasplus.com/en-us/publications/us/heads-up/2013/aicpa-conference
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The calculation of our tax liabilities involves dealing with uncertainties in the application of complex tax laws and 
regulations in a multitude of jurisdictions across our global operations. ASC 740 states that a tax benefit from an 
uncertain tax position may be recognized when it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained upon 
examination, including resolutions of any related appeals or litigation processes, on the basis of the technical 
merits.

We (1) record unrecognized tax benefits as liabilities in accordance with ASC 740 and (2) adjust these liabilities 
when our judgment changes as a result of the evaluation of new information not previously available. Because of 
the complexity of some of these uncertainties, the ultimate resolution may result in a payment that is materially 
different from our current estimate of the unrecognized tax benefit liabilities. These differences will be reflected as 
increases or decreases to income tax expense in the period in which new information is available.

We believe that it is reasonably possible that an increase of up to $XX in unrecognized tax benefits related to 
state exposures may be necessary within the coming year. In addition, we believe that it is reasonably possible 
that approximately $XX of our currently remaining unrecognized tax benefits, each of which are individually 
insignificant, may be recognized by the end of 20X4 as a result of a lapse of the statute of limitations.

We consider the earnings of certain non-U.S. subsidiaries to be indefinitely invested outside the United States 
on the basis of estimates that future domestic cash generation will be sufficient to meet future domestic cash 
needs and our specific plans for reinvestment of those subsidiary earnings. We have not recorded a deferred tax 
liability related to the U.S. federal and state income taxes and foreign withholding taxes on approximately $XX 
of undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries indefinitely invested outside the United States. If we decide to 
repatriate the foreign earnings, we would need to adjust our income tax provision in the period we determined 
that the earnings will no longer be indefinitely invested outside the United States.

MD&A — Liquidity and Capital Resources3

See SEC Regulation S-K, Item 303, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations.” 

Sample Disclosure 1
We earn a significant amount of our operating income outside the United States, which is deemed to be 
indefinitely reinvested in foreign jurisdictions. As a result, as discussed under Cash and Investments, most of 
our cash and short-term investments are held by foreign subsidiaries. We currently do not intend or foresee a 
need to repatriate these funds. We expect existing domestic cash and short-term investments and cash flows 
from operations to continue to be sufficient to fund our domestic operating activities and cash commitments for 
investing and financing activities, such as regular quarterly dividends, debt repayment, and capital expenditures, for 
at least the next 12 months and thereafter for the foreseeable future.

If we should require more capital in the United States than is generated by our domestic operations (e.g., to fund 
significant discretionary activities such as business acquisitions and share repurchases), we could elect to repatriate 
future earnings from foreign jurisdictions or raise capital in the United States through debt or equity issuances. 
These alternatives could result in higher effective tax rates, increased interest expense, or dilution of our earnings. 
We have borrowed funds domestically and continue to believe we have the ability to do so at reasonable interest 
rates.

Note: The SEC staff expects registrants to disclose the amount of cash and short-term investments held by 
foreign subsidiaries that would not be available to fund domestic operations unless the funds were repatriated. 
In the sample disclosure above, the registrant had disclosed this information in the Cash and Investments section 
of its MD&A.

3	 At the 2011 AICPA Conference, Nili Shah, deputy chief accountant in the SEC’s Division of Corporation Finance, and Mark Shannon, associate chief accountant in 
the SEC’s Division of Corporation Finance, discussed certain income tax matters in relation to registrants’ significant foreign operations. Ms. Shah indicated that 
when a registrant with significant amounts of cash and short-term investments overseas has asserted that such amounts are indefinitely reinvested in its foreign 
operations, the SEC staff would expect the registrant to provide the following disclosures in an MD&A liquidity analysis: (1) the amount of cash and short-term 
investments held by foreign subsidiaries that is not available to fund domestic operations unless the funds were repatriated; (2) a statement that the company 
would need to accrue and pay taxes if repatriated; and (3) if true, a statement that the company does not intend to repatriate those funds.

	 At the 2013 AICPA Conference, the SEC staff also reminded registrants when making the assertion of indefinitely reinvested foreign earnings, companies are 
required to disclose (1) the amount of the unrecognized deferred tax liability or (2) a statement that estimating an unrecognized tax liability is not practicable. In 
addition, the staff indicated that it evaluates the indefinite reinvestment assertion in taking into account registrants’ potential liquidity needs and the availability of 
funds in U.S. and foreign jurisdictions.
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Sample Disclosure 2
We consider the undistributed earnings of our foreign subsidiaries as of December 31, 20X3, to be indefinitely 
reinvested and, accordingly, no U.S. income taxes have been provided thereon. As of December 31, 20X3, the 
amount of cash associated with indefinitely reinvested foreign earnings was approximately $XX. We have not, nor 
do we anticipate the need to, repatriate funds to the United States to satisfy domestic liquidity needs arising in the 
ordinary course of business, including liquidity needs associated with our domestic debt service requirements.

MD&A — Contractual Obligations

See SEC Regulation S-K, Item 303, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations.” 

Sample Disclosure1
The table below contains information about our contractual obligations that affect our short- and long-term 
liquidity and capital needs. The table also includes information about payments due under specified contractual 
obligations and is aggregated by type of contractual obligation. It includes the maturity profile of our consolidated 
long-term debt, operating leases, and other long-term liabilities.

Contractual Obligations

Total
Less Than  

1 Year
1–3  

Years
3–5  

Years
More Than 

5 Years

(in millions)

Long-term debt obligations 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX

Interest payments on long-term debt 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX

Operating lease obligations 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX

Capital lease obligations 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX

Unrecognized tax benefits, including  
     interest and penalties 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX

Other liabilities reflected on  
     consolidated balance sheet 	 	 XXX 	 	 XXX 	 	 XXX 	 	 XXX 	 	 XXX

Total 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX

In the table above, the unrecognized tax benefits, including interest and penalties, are related to temporary 
differences. The years for which the temporary differences related to the unrecognized tax benefits will reverse 
have been estimated in the schedule of obligations above. In addition, approximately $XX of unrecognized tax 
benefits have been recorded as liabilities, and we are uncertain about whether or, if so, when such amounts may 
be settled. We also recorded a liability for potential penalties of $XX and interest of $XX for the unrecognized tax 
benefits not included in the table above.

Sample Disclosure 2
The following table presents certain payments due under contractual obligations with minimum firm commitments 
as of December 31, 20X3:

Payments Due In

Total
Less Than  

1 Year
1–3  

Years
3–5  

Years
More Than 

5 Years

(in millions)

Operating lease obligations 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX

Purchase obligations 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX

Other obligations 	 	 XXX 	 	 XXX 	 	 XXX 	 	 XXX 	 	 XXX

Total 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX
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Our other noncurrent liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet include unrecognized tax benefits and related 
interest and penalties. As of December 31, 20X3, we had gross unrecognized tax benefits of $XX and an additional 
$XX for interest and penalties classified as noncurrent liabilities. At this time, we are unable to make a reasonably 
reliable estimate of the timing of payments in individual years in connection with these tax liabilities; therefore, 
such amounts are not included in the above contractual obligation table.

Note: Entities may disclose in either a footnote to the table or an “other” column added to the table a liability 
for unrecognized tax benefits for which reasonable estimates about the timing of payment cannot be made.

For additional information, see Discussion Document E, “Disclosure of FIN 48 Liabilities in the Contractual 
Obligations Table,” from the April 2007 SEC Regulations Committee joint meeting with the SEC staff.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note A — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Income Taxes

Sample Disclosure
We account for income taxes under the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of deferred tax 
assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in the financial 
statements. Under this method, we determine deferred tax assets and liabilities on the basis of the differences 
between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities by using enacted tax rates in effect for the 
year in which the differences are expected to reverse. The effect of a change in tax rates on deferred tax assets and 
liabilities is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.

We recognize deferred tax assets to the extent that we believe that these assets are more likely than not to be 
realized. In making such a determination, we consider all available positive and negative evidence, including 
future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences, projected future taxable income, tax-planning strategies, 
and results of recent operations. If we determine that we would be able to realize our deferred tax assets in the 
future in excess of their net recorded amount, we would make an adjustment to the deferred tax asset valuation 
allowance, which would reduce the provision for income taxes.

We record uncertain tax positions in accordance with ASC 740 on the basis of a two-step process in which (1) we 
determine whether it is more likely than not that the tax positions will be sustained on the basis of the technical 
merits of the position and (2) for those tax positions that meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold, 
we recognize the largest amount of tax benefit that is more than 50 percent likely to be realized upon ultimate 
settlement with the related tax authority.

Classification of Interest and Penalties

See ASC 740-10-50-19.

Sample Disclosure 1
We recognize interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits on the income tax expense line in the 
accompanying consolidated statement of operations. Accrued interest and penalties are included on the related tax 
liability line in the consolidated balance sheet.

Sample Disclosure 2
We recognize interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits on the interest expense line and other 
expense line, respectively, in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations. Accrued interest and 
penalties are included on the related liability lines in the consolidated balance sheet.
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Investment Tax Credit Recognition Policy 

See ASC 740-10-50-20.

Sample Disclosure 1
We earn investment tax credits from the state of X’s economic development program. We use the deferral method 
of accounting for investment tax credits.

Sample Disclosure 2
We use the flow-through method to account for investment tax credits earned on eligible scientific research and 
development expenditures. Under this method, the investment tax credits are recognized as a reduction to income 
tax expense in the year they are earned.

Note B — Statement of Cash Flows

Sample Disclosure
Supplemental cash flows and noncash investing and financing activities are as follows:

Years Ended December 31

20X3 20X2 20X1

(in millions)

Noncash Investing and Financing Activities:

     Acquisition of property and equipment on account 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX

     Acquisition of property and equipment through long-term financing 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX

Supplemental Cash Flow Information:

     Income taxes paid, net of refunds 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX

     Interest paid 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX

Note: Under ASC 230-10-50-2, the supplemental cash flow information for income taxes paid is required when 
an indirect method is used. Such disclosure can be included in the company’s statement of cash flows or in a 
footnote.

Note C — Acquisitions

See ASC 805-10-50-6 (financial effects of adjustments related to business combinations that occurred in the 
current or previous reporting periods) and ASC 805-30-50-1(d) (total amount of goodwill that is expected to be 
deductible for tax purposes). 

Sample Disclosure 1
The preliminary purchase price allocation resulted in goodwill of $XX million, which is not deductible for income 
tax purposes. Goodwill consists of the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the acquired assets and 
represents the estimated economic value attributable to future operations.

The purchase price allocation is preliminary and subject to revision. At this time, except for the items noted below, 
we do not expect material changes to the value of the assets acquired or liabilities assumed in conjunction with the 
transaction. Specifically, the following assets and liabilities are subject to change:

•	 Intangible customer contracts. 

•	 Payments due from and to related parties. 

•	 Deferred income tax assets and liabilities. 

As management receives additional information during the measurement period, these assets and liabilities may be 
adjusted.
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Under the acquisition method of accounting for business combinations, if we identify changes to acquired deferred 
tax asset valuation allowances or liabilities related to uncertain tax positions during the measurement period, and 
they are related to new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date, 
those changes are considered a measurement-period adjustment, and we record the offset to goodwill. We record 
all other changes to deferred tax asset valuation allowances and liabilities related to uncertain tax positions in 
current-period income tax expense. This accounting applies to all of our acquisitions, regardless of acquisition date.

Sample Disclosure 2
Goodwill of $XX million was assigned to the X and Y segments in the amounts of $XX million and $XX million, 
respectively, and is deductible for tax purposes. The amounts of intangible assets and goodwill have been assigned 
to the X and Y segments on the basis of the respective profit margins of the acquired customer contracts. The 
transaction was taxable for income tax purposes, and all assets and liabilities have been recorded at fair value for 
both book and income tax purposes. Therefore, no deferred taxes have been recorded.

Note D — Income Taxes               4

See SEC Regulation S-X, Rule 4-08(h), “General Notes to Financial Statements: Income Tax Expense.” 4

Sample Disclosure 1 
For financial reporting purposes, income before income taxes includes the following components: 

Years Ended December 31

20X3 20X2 20X1

(in millions)

United States 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX

Foreign 	 	 XXX 	 	 XXX 	 	 XXX

Total 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX

The expense (benefit) for income taxes consists of:

Years Ended December 31

20X3 20X2 20X1

(in millions)

Current:

     Federal 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX

     State 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX

     Foreign 	 	 XXX 	 	 XXX 	 	 XXX

	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX

Deferred and other: 

     Federal 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX

     State 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX

     Foreign 	 	 XXX 	 	 XXX 	 	 XXX

	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX

Total tax expense 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX

4	 At the 2010 AICPA Conference, Jill Davis, associate chief accountant in the SEC’s Division of Corporation Finance, stated that one of the requirements in SEC 
Regulation S-X, Rule 4-08(h), is to disclose the components of income (loss) before income tax expense (benefit) as either domestic or foreign. Ms. Davis indicated 
that some registrants’ disclosures about these components have been limited in circumstances in which the registrants had a very low income tax expense 
because a substantial amount of profits were derived from countries with little or no tax. She explained that the disclosures provided should allow an investor to 
easily determine the effective tax rate for net income attributable to domestic operations and foreign operations and stated that the lack of such disclosure may 
result in SEC staff comments.
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Sample Disclosure 2
For financial reporting purposes, income before income taxes includes the following components: 

Years Ended December 31

20X3 20X2 20X1

(in millions)

United States 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX

Foreign 	 	 XXX 	 	 XXX 	 	 XXX

Total 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX

The provision for income taxes for 20X3, 20X2, and 20X1 consisted of the following:

Years Ended December 31

20X3 20X2 20X1

(in millions)

U.S. Federal:

     Current 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX

     Deferred 	 	 XXX 	 	 XXX 	 	 XXX

	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX

U.S. State:

     Current 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX

     Deferred 	 	 XXX 	 	 XXX 	 	 XXX

	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX

Foreign:

     Current 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX

     Deferred 	 	 XXX 	 	 XXX 	 	 XXX

	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX

Provision for income taxes 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX

Components of Income Tax Expense or Benefit 

See ASC 740-10-50-9.

Sample Disclosure 1

Years Ended December 31

20X3 20X2 20X1

(in millions)

Current tax expense (benefit) 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX

Deferred tax expense (benefit) 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX

Tax expense (benefit) related to an increase (decrease) in unrecognized  
     tax benefits

		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX

Interest expense — gross of related tax effects 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX

Penalties — gross of related tax effects 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX

Tax expense recorded as an increase of paid-in capital 	 	 XXX 	 	 XXX 	 	 XXX

Total tax expense 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX
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Note: ASC 740-10-50-9 requires disclosure of other items, such as the effects of changes in tax law or in 
valuation allowances, that may be disclosed elsewhere (i.e., in the reconciliation of the effective tax rate).

Sample Disclosure 2

Years Ended December 31

20X3 20X2 20X1

(in millions)

Current tax expense (benefit) 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX

Deferred tax expense (benefit) 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX

Other tax expense (benefit) 	 	 XXX 	 	 XXX 	 	 XXX

Total tax expense 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX

Note: If presented, the other tax expense (benefit) line in Sample Disclosure 2 would include items affecting the 
expense that neither meet the definition of a deferred tax item (ASC 740-10-30-4) nor the definition of a current 
tax item (ASC 740-10-20). If material, the components of the other tax expense (benefit) should be separately 
described below the table.

Rate Reconciliation 

See ASC 740-10-50-12 through 50-14.

Sample Disclosure 1
Reconciliation between the effective tax rate on income from continuing operations and the statutory tax rate is  
as follows:                      5

Years Ended December 31

20X3 20X2 20X1

(in millions)

Income tax expense (benefit) at federal statutory rate 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX

State and local income taxes net of federal tax benefit 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX

Foreign tax rate differential5 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX

Change in valuation allowance 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX

Effect of flow-through entity 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX

Effect of double taxation net of dividend received deduction 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX

Noncontrolling interest 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX

Nondeductible/nontaxable items 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX

Stock-based compensation 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX

Tax audit settlements 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX

Other — net 	 	 XXX 	 	 XXX 	 	 XXX

Income tax expense (benefit) 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX

5	 At the 2013 AICPA Conference, the SEC staff noted the following issues with registrants’ tax rate reconciliation disclosures:

•	 Labels related to reconciling items were unclear, and disclosures about material reconciling items did not adequately describe the underlying nature of these 
items.

•	 For material reconciling items related to foreign tax jurisdictions, registrants did not disclose in MD&A (1) each material foreign jurisdiction and its tax rate 
and (2) how each jurisdiction affects the amount in the tax rate reconciliation.

•	 Registrants have inappropriately aggregated material reconciling items. The SEC staff reminded registrants that Regulation S-X requires separate-line-item 
disclosure for reconciling items whose amount is greater than 5 percent of the amount calculated by multiplying the pretax income by the statutory tax rate. 

•	 Amounts reflected in the tax rate reconciliation were inconsistent with related amounts disclosed elsewhere in a registrant’s filing.

•	 Corrections of errors were inappropriately reflected as changes in estimates.

	 For additional information, see Deloitte’s December 16, 2013, Heads Up on the AICPA Conference. 

http://www.iasplus.com/en-us/publications/us/heads-up/2013/aicpa-conference
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Note: SEC Regulation S-X, Rule 4-08(h)(2), indicates that for public entities, the reconciliation should disclose all 
components of the income tax expense or benefit that comprise 5 percent or more of income tax expense or 
benefit from continuing operations, determined by using the statutory tax rate. Nonpublic entities are permitted 
to omit this reconciliation but are required to disclose the nature of significant reconciling items.

Sample Disclosure 2
The differences between income taxes expected at the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate of 35 percent and the 
reported income tax (benefit) expense are summarized as follows:                      6     

Years Ended December 31

20X3 20X2 20X1

(in millions)

Expected income tax (benefit) expense at federal statutory rate 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX

Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX

Fair value of preferred stock equity conversion feature 		  XXX 		  XXX

Residual tax on foreign earnings 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX

Foreign rate differential6 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX

Bargain purchase gain 		  XXX

Gain on contingent purchase price reduction 		  XXX

Meals and entertainment 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX

Exempt foreign income 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX

Unrecognized tax benefits 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX

State and local income taxes 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX

Dividends received deduction 		  XXX

Capitalized transaction costs 		  XXX 		  XXX

Other 	 	 XXX 	 	 XXX 	 	 XXX

Reported income tax (benefit) expense 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX

Effective tax rate 		  XX% 		  XX% 		  XX%

Unrecognized Deferred Tax Liability Related to Investments in Foreign Subsidiaries            7 

See ASC 740-30-50-2.7

Sample Disclosure 1
U.S. income tax has not been recognized on the excess of the amount for financial reporting over the tax basis 
of investments in foreign subsidiaries that is indefinitely reinvested outside the United States. This amount 
becomes taxable upon a repatriation of assets from the subsidiary or a sale or liquidation of the subsidiary. The 
amount of such temporary differences totaled $XXX as of December 31, 20X3. Determination of the amount 
of any unrecognized deferred income tax liability on this temporary difference is not practicable because of the 
complexities of the hypothetical calculation.

Sample Disclosure 2
In general, it is our practice and intention to reinvest the earnings of its non-U.S. subsidiaries in those operations. 
As of December 31, 20X3, we have not made a provision for U.S. or additional foreign withholding taxes on 
approximately $XXX of the excess of the amount for financial reporting over the tax basis of investments in foreign 
subsidiaries that is indefinitely reinvested. Generally, such amounts become subject to U.S. taxation upon the 
remittance of dividends and under certain other circumstances. It is not practicable to estimate the amount of 
deferred tax liability related to investments in these foreign subsidiaries.

6	 See footnote 4.
7	 See footnote 2.
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Components of the Net Deferred Tax Asset or Liability 

See ASC 740-10-50-2, ASC 740-10-50-6, ASC 740-10-50-8, and ASC 740-10-50-16.

December 31

20X3 20X2

(in millions)

Receivable allowances 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX

Reserves and accruals not currently deductible for tax purposes 		  XXX 		  XXX

Stock-based compensation 		  XXX 		  XXX

Research and development costs 		  XXX 		  XXX

NOL and tax credit carryforwards 		  XXX 		  XXX

Restructuring and settlement reserves 		  XXX 		  XXX

Other 	 	 XXX 	 	 XXX

Subtotal 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX

Less: valuation allowance 	 	 XXX 	 	 XXX

Total net deferred tax assets 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX

Inventory valuation and other assets 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX

Fixed Assets 		  XXX 		  XXX

Other 	 	 XXX 	 	 XXX

Total deferred tax liabilities 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX

Net deferred tax liability 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX

Operating Loss and Tax Credit Carryforwards 

See ASC 740-10-50-3.

Sample Disclosure
We have income tax NOL carryforwards related to our international operations of approximately $XXX. We have 
recorded a deferred tax asset of $XXX reflecting the benefit of $XXX in loss carryforwards. Such deferred tax assets 
expire as follows:

20X4–20X8 	 $	 XXX

20X9–20Y3 		  XXX

20Y4–20Y8 	 	 XXX

	 $	 XXX
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Valuation Allowance8 and Risks and Uncertainties 

See ASC 275-10-50-8.

Sample Disclosure 1
Management assesses the available positive and negative evidence to estimate whether sufficient future taxable 
income will be generated to permit use of the existing deferred tax assets. A significant piece of objective negative 
evidence evaluated was the cumulative loss incurred over the three-year period ended December 31, 20X3. Such 
objective evidence limits the ability to consider other subjective evidence, such as our projections for future growth.

On the basis of this evaluation, as of December 31, 20X3, a valuation allowance of $XXX has been recorded to 
recognize only the portion of the deferred tax asset that is more likely than not to be realized. The amount of the 
deferred tax asset considered realizable, however, could be adjusted if estimates of future taxable income during 
the carryforward period are reduced or increased or if objective negative evidence in the form of cumulative losses 
is no longer present and additional weight is given to subjective evidence such as our projections for growth.

Sample Disclosure 2
We have federal and state income tax NOL carryforwards of $XXX and $XXX, which will expire on various dates in 
the next 15 years as follows:

20X4–20X8 	 $	 XXX

20X9–20Y3 		  XXX

20Y4–20Y8 	 	 XXX

	 $	 XXX

We believe that it is more likely than not that the benefit from certain state NOL carryforwards will not be realized. 
In recognition of this risk, we have provided a valuation allowance of $XXX on the deferred tax assets related to 
these state NOL carryforwards. If or when recognized, the tax benefits related to any reversal of the valuation 
allowance on deferred tax assets as of December 31, 20X3, will be accounted for as follows: approximately $XXX 
will be recognized as a reduction of income tax expense and $XXX will be recorded as an increase in equity.

The federal, state, and foreign NOL carryforwards in the income tax returns filed included unrecognized tax 
benefits. The deferred tax assets recognized for those NOLs are presented net of these unrecognized tax benefits.

Because of the change of ownership provisions of the Tax Reform Act of 1986, use of a portion of our domestic 
NOL and tax credit carryforwards may be limited in future periods. Further, a portion of the carryforwards may 
expire before being applied to reduce future income tax liabilities.

Valuation Allowance Reversal9

Sample Disclosure
As of December 31, 20X3, our deferred tax assets were primarily the result of U.S. NOL, capital loss, and tax credit 
carryforwards. A valuation allowance of $XXX and $XXX was recorded against our gross deferred tax asset balance 
as of December 31, 20X3, and December 31, 20X2, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 20X3, and 
December 31, 20X2, we recorded a net valuation allowance release of $XXX (comprising a full-year valuation 

8	 At the 2011 AICPA Conference, Mark Shannon advised that entities must consider all available evidence, both positive and negative, in determining whether a 
valuation allowance is needed to reduce a deferred tax asset to an amount that is more likely than not to be realized. Mr. Shannon said that some registrants are 
placing less weight on recent losses when weighing the positive and negative evidence because they view the current economic downturn as an aberration, as 
given in an example in ASC 740-10-30-22. He stated that while each company’s facts and circumstances could differ, in general it would be difficult to conclude 
the economic downturn is an aberration. He also reminded participants that overcoming such negative evidence would require significant objective positive 
evidence. At the 2012 AICPA Conference, Mr. Shannon reiterated these comments. He also emphasized the importance of evidence that is objectively verifiable 
and noted that it carries more weight than evidence that is not. 

9	 At the 2012 AICPA Conference, Mark Shannon noted that registrants who have returned to profitability may be considering whether they should reverse a 
previously recognized valuation allowance. He indicated that factors to consider in making this determination include (1) the magnitude and duration of past 
losses and (2) the magnitude and duration of current profitability as well as changes in the factors that drove losses in the past and those currently driving 
profitability. Nili Shah further noted that registrants should assess the sustainability of current profits as well as their track record of accurately forecasting future 
financial results. She pointed out that registrants’ disclosures should include a discussion of the factors or reasons that led to a reversal of a valuation allowance 
that effectively answers the question “why now.” Such disclosures would include a comprehensive analysis of all available positive and negative evidence and how 
the entity weighed each piece of evidence in its assessment. She also reminded registrants that the same disclosures would be expected when there is significant 
negative evidence and a registrant concludes that a valuation allowance is necessary. 
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release of $XXX related to the X segment, partially offset by an increase to the valuation allowance of $XXX 
related to the Y segment) and $XXX, respectively, on the basis of management’s reassessment of the amount of its 
deferred tax assets that are more likely than not to be realized. 

As of each reporting date, management considers new evidence, both positive and negative, that could affect its 
view of the future realization of deferred tax assets. As of December 31, 20X3, in part because in the current year 
we achieved three years of cumulative pretax income in the U.S. federal tax jurisdiction, management determined 
that there is sufficient positive evidence to conclude that it is more likely than not that additional deferred taxes of 
$XXX are realizable. It therefore reduced the valuation allowance accordingly.

As of December 31, 20X3, and December 31, 20X2, we have NOL carryforwards of $XXX and $XXX,  
respectively, which, if unused, will expire in years 20Y6 through 20Z2. We have capital loss carryforwards totaling 
$XXX and $XXX as of December 31, 20X3, and December 31, 20X2, respectively, which, if unused, will expire  
in years 20X4 through 20X8. In addition, as of December 31, 20X3, and December 31, 20X2, we have low  
income housing tax credit carryforwards totaling $XXX and $XXX, respectively, which, if unused, will expire in  
years 20X8 through 20Z3, and alternative minimum tax credits of $XXX and $XXX, respectively, that may be 
carried forward indefinitely. Certain tax attributes are subject to an annual limitation as a result of the acquisition of 
our Subsidiary A, which constitutes a change of ownership as defined under Internal Revenue Code Section 382.

Deferred Tax Asset Attributable to Excess Stock Option Deductions

Sample Disclosure 1
As a result of certain realization requirements of ASC 718, the table of deferred tax assets and liabilities does not 
include certain deferred tax assets as of December 31, 20X3, and December 31, 20X2, that arose directly from 
(or the use of which was postponed by) tax deductions related to equity compensation that are greater than the 
compensation recognized for financial reporting. Equity will be increased by $XXX if and when such deferred tax 
assets are ultimately realized. We use ASC 740 ordering when determining when excess tax benefits have been 
realized.

Sample Disclosure 2
As a result of certain realization requirements of ASC 718, the table of deferred tax assets and liabilities does not 
include certain deferred tax assets as of December 31, 20X3, and December 31, 20X2, that arose directly from tax 
deductions related to equity compensation greater than compensation recognized for financial reporting. Equity 
will be increased by $XXX if and when such deferred tax assets are ultimately realized. We use tax law ordering 
when determining when excess tax benefits have been realized.

Note: As of the date of adoption of FASB Statement No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment (now codified in ASC 
718), an entity that previously recognized a deferred tax asset for excess tax benefits before its realization was 
required to discontinue that practice prospectively. As a result, some entities may continue to have deferred tax 
assets for an NOL carryforward that includes such excess tax benefits until the NOL carryforward is either used 
or expires. In this case, it may not be appropriate to reverse any related valuation allowance recorded in the 
same year the related deferred tax asset was first recorded, even if the facts and circumstances indicate that it is 
more likely than not that the deferred tax asset will be realized. These entities should modify the above samples 
accordingly.

Entities are required to present in the consolidated statements of cash flows the impact of the tax benefit of 
any realized excess tax deduction in accordance with ASC 230-10-45-14(e). The excess tax benefit is separate 
from taxes paid and is reported as a component of cash inflows from financing activities. The excess tax benefit 
should be determined on a gross basis (i.e., not netted with tax deficiencies related to share-based payment 
awards). Operating cash outflows are increased by the same amount, resulting in including in operating cash 
flows the income taxes that the entity would have paid had it not been for the excess tax benefit.
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Tax Holidays 

See SEC Accounting Bulletin Topic 11.C, “Tax Holidays.”

Sample Disclosure
We operate under tax holidays in other countries, which are effective through December 31, 20X3, and may be 
extended if certain additional requirements are satisfied. The tax holidays are conditional upon our meeting certain 
employment and investment thresholds. The impact of these tax holidays decreased foreign taxes by $XXX, $XXX, 
and $XXX for 20X3, 20X2, and 20X1, respectively. The benefit of the tax holidays on net income per share (diluted) 
was $.XX, $.XX, and $.XX for 20X3, 20X2, and 20X1, respectively.

Tabular Reconciliation of Unrecognized Tax Benefits 

See ASC 740-10-50-15A(a).

Note: This tabular reconciliation disclosure is not required for nonpublic entities.

Sample Disclosure 1
The following is a tabular reconciliation of the total amounts of unrecognized tax benefits:

20X3 20X2 20X1

(in millions)

Unrecognized tax benefits — January 1 $	 XXX $	 XXX $	 XXX

Gross increases — tax positions in prior period 		 XXX 		 XXX 		 XXX

Gross decreases — tax positions in prior period 		 XXX 		 XXX

Gross increases — tax positions in current period 		 XXX 		 XXX 		 XXX

Settlement 		 XXX 		 XXX 		 XXX

Lapse of statute of limitations 		 XXX 		 XXX 		 XXX

Unrecognized tax benefits — December 31 $	 XXX $	 XXX $	 XXX

Sample Disclosure 2

Note: The table on the next page illustrates a selection of reconciling items that may be reported separately or 
aggregated on the basis of the specific facts and circumstances. The list is not intended to be all-inclusive. If 
reported separately, the descriptions should be appropriately titled so that the user of the financial statements 
will understand the nature of the reconciling item being reported.
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20X3 20X2 20X1

(in millions)

Unrecognized tax benefits — January 1 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX

Current year — increase 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX

Prior year — increase 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX

Claims 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX

Prior year — decrease 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX

Accrual to return changes 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX

Settlements 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX

Statute expiration 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX

Current year acquisitions 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX

Divestitures 		  XXX 		  XXX 		  XXX

Currency 	 	 XXX 	 	 XXX 	 	 XXX

Unrecognized tax benefits — December 31 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX 	 $	 XXX

See ASC 740-10-50-15A(b) (unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would affect the effective tax rate).

Note: This disclosure is not required for nonpublic entities.

Included in the balance of unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 20X3; December 31; 20X2; and 
December 31, 20X1, are $XXX, $XXX, and $XXX, respectively, of tax benefits that, if recognized, would affect the 
effective tax rate. Also included in the balance of unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 20X3; December 
31, 20X2; and December 31, 20X1, are $XXX, $XXX, and $XXX, respectively, of tax benefits that, if recognized, 
would result in adjustments to other tax accounts, primarily deferred taxes.

See ASC 740-10-50-15(c) (the total amounts of interest and penalties recognized in the statement of operations 
and the total amounts of interest and penalties recognized in the statements of financial position).

We recognize interest accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits and penalties as income tax expense. Related 
to the unrecognized tax benefits noted above, we accrued penalties of $XX and interest of $XX during 20X3 and 
in total, as of December 31, 20X3, and recognized a liability for penalties of $XX and interest of $XX. During 20X2, 
we accrued penalties of $XX and interest of $XX and in total, as of December 31, 20X2, had recognized a liability 
for penalties of $XX and interest of $XX. During 20X1, we accrued penalties of $XX and interest of $XX.

See ASC 740-10-50-15(d) (tax positions for which it is reasonably possible that the total amounts of 
unrecognized tax benefits that will significantly increase or decrease within 12 months of the reporting date).

We believe that it is reasonably possible that a decrease of up to $XX in unrecognized tax benefits related to 
state exposures may be necessary within the coming year. In addition, we believe that it is reasonably possible 
that approximately $XX of current other remaining unrecognized tax benefits, each of which are individually 
insignificant, may be recognized by the end of 20X4 as a result of a lapse of the statute of limitations. As of 
December 31, 20X2, we believed that it was reasonably possible that a decrease of up to $XX in unrecognized tax 
benefits related to state tax exposures would have occurred during the year ended December 31, 20X3. During the 
year ended December 31, 20X3, unrecognized tax benefits related to those state exposures actually decreased by 
$XX as illustrated in the table above.

See ASC 740-10-50-15(e) (description of tax years that remain subject to examination by major tax jurisdictions). 

We are subject to taxation in the United States and various states and foreign jurisdictions. As of December 31, 
20X3, tax years for 20X0, 20X1, and 20X2 are subject to examination by the tax authorities. With few exceptions, 
as of December 31, 20X3, we are no longer subject to U.S. federal, state, local, or foreign examinations by tax 
authorities for years before 20X0. Tax year 20W9 was open as of December 31, 20X2.
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Subsequent Events Disclosure 

See ASC 855-10-50-2 (nonrecognized subsequent events).

Sample Disclosure
In January 20X4, we received notice of a tax incentive award of $XX that will allow us to monetize approximately 
$XX of state research and development tax credits. In exchange for this award, we pledged to hire more 
employees and maintain the additional headcount through at least December 31, 20X8. Failure to do so could 
result in our being required to repay some or all of these incentives.

Note: Disclosure of a nonrecognized subsequent event is required only when the financial statements would be 
considered misleading without such disclosure.

Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
The following schedule and accompanying footnote are reproduced from SEC Regulation S-X, Rule 12-09:

Column A —  
Description1

Column B — 
Balance at 

beginning of 
period

Column C — Additions

Column D — 
Deductions —  

describe

Column E — 
Balance at end 

of period

(1) — Charged 
to costs and 

expenses

(2) — Charged 
to other 

accounts — 
describe

1	 List, by major classes, all valuation and qualifying accounts and reserves not included in specific schedules. Identify each class of 
valuation and qualifying accounts and reserves by descriptive title. Group (a) those valuation and qualifying accounts that are 
deducted in the balance sheet from the assets to which they apply and (b) those reserves which support the balance sheet caption, 
Reserves. Valuation and qualifying accounts and reserves as to which the additions, deductions, and balances were not individually 
significant may be grouped in one total and in such a case the information called for under columns C and D need not be given.

Note: A liability for unrecognized tax benefits is not a valuation or qualifying account, whereas a valuation 
allowance on a deferred tax asset is a valuation account.

Interim Disclosures 

See ASC 740-270-50-1 (variations in customary income tax expense relationships).

Sample Disclosure 1
Our effective tax rate (ETR) from continuing operations was XX percent and XX percent for the quarter and nine 
months ended September 30, 20X2, respectively, and XX percent and XX percent for the quarter and nine months 
ended September 30, 20X1, respectively. The following items caused the quarterly or year-to-date ETR to be 
significantly different from our historical annual ETR:   

•	 During the third quarter and nine months ended September 30, 20X2, we recorded an income tax benefit 
of approximately $XX million as a result of a favorable settlement of uncertain tax positions in jurisdiction 
X, which reduced the ETR by XX percent and XX percent respectively.

•	 During the nine months ended September 30, 20X1, we recorded an income tax benefit of approximately 
$XX million related to an increase in tax rates in country X enacted in the third quarter, which increased 
the ETR by XX percent. 

Sample Disclosure 2
When calculating the annual estimated effective income tax rate for the three months ended March 31, 20X1, 
we were subject to a loss limitation rule because the year-to-date ordinary loss exceeded the full-year expected 
ordinary loss. The tax benefit for that year-to-date ordinary loss was limited to the amount that would be 
recognized if the year-to-date ordinary loss were the anticipated ordinary loss for the full year.
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Sample Disclosure 3
We have historically calculated the provision for income taxes during interim reporting periods by applying an 
estimate of the annual effective tax rate for the full fiscal year to “ordinary” income or loss (pretax income or 
loss excluding unusual or infrequently occurring discrete items) for the reporting period. We have used a discrete 
effective tax rate method to calculate taxes for the fiscal three- and six-month periods ended June 30, 20X2.  
We determined that since small changes in estimated “ordinary” income would result in significant changes in  
the estimated annual effective tax rate, the historical method would not provide a reliable estimate for the fiscal 
three- and six-month periods ended June 30, 20X2.

Separate Company Financial Statements

See ASC 740-10-50-17(b) (entities with separately issued financial statements that are members of a consolidated 
tax return).

Sample Disclosure
Our company is included in the consolidated tax return of Parent P. We calculate the provision for income taxes 
by using a “separate return” method. Under this method, we are assumed to file a separate return with the 
tax authority, thereby reporting our taxable income or loss and paying the applicable tax to or receiving the 
appropriate refund from P. Our current provision is the amount of tax payable or refundable on the basis of 
a hypothetical, current-year separate return. We provide deferred taxes on temporary differences and on any 
carryforwards that we could claim on our hypothetical return and assess the need for a valuation allowance on the 
basis of our projected separate return results. 

Any difference between the tax provision (or benefit) allocated to us under the separate return method 
and payments to be made to (or received from) P for tax expense are treated as either dividends or capital 
contributions. Accordingly, the amount by which our tax liability under the separate return method exceeds the 
amount of tax liability ultimately settled as a result of using incremental expenses of P is periodically settled as a 
capital contribution from P to us.

Deloitte shall not be responsible for any loss sustained by any person who relies on this publication.

As used in this document, “Deloitte” means Deloitte & Touche LLP, Deloitte Consulting LLP, Deloitte Tax LLP, and Deloitte Financial Advisory Services LLP, which 
are subsidiaries of Deloitte LLP. Please see  www.deloitte.com/us/about for a detailed description of the legal structure of Deloitte LLP and its subsidiaries. Certain 
services may not be available to attest clients under the rules and regulations of public accounting.

Copyright © 2015 Deloitte Development LLC. All rights reserved.

www.deloitte.com/us/about




ASC 230-10-50-2 


Interest and Income Taxes Paid 


If the indirect method is used, amounts of interest paid (net of 
amounts capitalized) and income taxes paid during the period shall be 
disclosed. [FAS  95,  paragraph 29]








ASC 275-10-50-8 


Disclosure regarding an estimate shall be made when known information available 
before the financial statements are issued or are available to be issued (as discussed 
in Section 855-10-25) indicates that both of the following criteria are met: 


a. It is at least reasonably possible that the estimate of the effect on the financial 
statements of a condition, situation, or set of circumstances that existed at the date 
of the financial statements will change in the near term due to one or more future 
confirming events. (The term reasonably possible as used in this Subtopic is 
consistent with its use in Subtopic 450-20 to mean that the chance of a future 
transaction or event occurring is more than remote but less than likely.)


b. The effect of the change would be material to the financial statements. [SOP 94-6,
paragraph 13]
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Interpretation: 
Commission Guidance Regarding Management's 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and 
Results of Operations 


Securities and Exchange Commission 


17 CFR Parts 211, 231 and 241 


[Release Nos. 33-8350; 34-48960; FR-72] 


Agency: Securities and Exchange Commission. 


Action: Interpretation. 


Summary: The Commission is publishing interpretive guidance regarding 
the disclosure commonly known as Management's Discussion and Analysis 
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, or MD&A, which is 
required by Item 303 of Regulation S-K, Items 303(b) and (c) of Regulation 
S-B, Item 5 of Form 20-F and Paragraph 11 of General Instruction B of 
Form 40-F. This guidance is intended to elicit more meaningful disclosure in 
MD&A in a number of areas, including the overall presentation and focus of 
MD&A, with general emphasis on the discussion and analysis of known 
trends, demands, commitments, events and uncertainties, and specific 
guidance on disclosures about liquidity, capital resources and critical 
accounting estimates. 


Effective Date: December 29, 2003 


For Further Information Contact: Questions about specific filings should 
be directed to staff members responsible for reviewing the documents the 
registrant files with the Commission. General questions about this release 
should be referred to Todd Hardiman, Karl Hiller, Nina Mojiri-Azad, Mara 
Ransom, or Sondra Stokes, Division of Corporation Finance, at 
(202) 824-5300 , Securities and Exchange Commission, 450 5th Street 
N.W., Washington, D.C. 20549-0401. 


Supplementary Information: 


I. Overview 


A. Purpose 


This release interprets requirements for Management's Discussion and 
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations ("MD&A").1 It 
provides guidance to assist companies: 


1







 in preparing MD&A disclosure that is easier to follow and understand; 
and  
   


 in providing information that more completely satisfies our previously 
enunciated principal objectives of MD&A. 


We believe that management's most important responsibilities include 
communicating with investors in a clear and straightforward manner. MD&A 
is a critical component of that communication. The Commission has long 
sought through its rules, enforcement actions and interpretive processes to 
elicit MD&A that not only meets technical disclosure requirements but 
generally is informative and transparent. We believe and expect that when 
companies follow the guidance in this release, the overall quality of their 
MD&A will improve. The Division of Corporation Finance will continue to 
review MD&A submitted after this guidance is released and take action as 
appropriate. In addition, we have instructed the Division to keep us 
apprised of whether this guidance has produced improved disclosure, and 
to suggest additional Commission action related to MD&A as appropriate. 


B. Approach to MD&A 


The purpose of MD&A is not complicated. It is to provide readers 
information "necessary to an understanding of [a company's] financial 
condition, changes in financial condition and results of operations."2 The 
MD&A requirements are intended to satisfy three principal objectives: 


 to provide a narrative explanation of a company's financial 
statements that enables investors to see the company through the 
eyes of management; 
   


 to enhance the overall financial disclosure and provide the context 
within which financial information should be analyzed; and 
   


 to provide information about the quality of, and potential variability 
of, a company's earnings and cash flow, so that investors can 
ascertain the likelihood that past performance is indicative of future 
performance.3 


MD&A should be a discussion and analysis of a company's business as seen 
through the eyes of those who manage that business. Management has a 
unique perspective on its business that only it can present. As such, MD&A 
should not be a recitation of financial statements in narrative form or an 
otherwise uninformative series of technical responses to MD&A 
requirements, neither of which provides this important management 
perspective. Through this release we encourage each company and its 
management to take a fresh look at MD&A with a view to enhancing its 
quality. We also encourage early top-level involvement by a company's 
management in identifying the key disclosure themes and items that should 
be included in a company's MD&A. 


Based on our experience with many companies' current disclosures in 
MD&A, we believe there are a number of general ways for companies to 
enhance their MD&A consistent with its purpose. The recent review 
experiences of the staff of the Division of Corporation Finance, including its 
Fortune 500 review,4 have led us to conclude that additional guidance 
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would be especially useful in the following areas: 


 the overall presentation of MD&A; 
   


 the focus and content of MD&A (including materiality, analysis, key 
performance measures and known material trends and uncertainties);
   


 disclosure regarding liquidity and capital resources; and  
   


 disclosure regarding critical accounting estimates. 


Therefore, in this release, we emphasize the following points regarding 
overall presentation: 


 within the universe of material information, companies should present 
their disclosure so that the most important information is most 
prominent; 
   


 companies should avoid unnecessary duplicative disclosure that can 
tend to overwhelm readers and act as an obstacle to identifying and 
understanding material matters; and 
   


 many companies would benefit from starting their MD&A with a 
section that provides an executive-level overview that provides 
context for the remainder of the discussion. 


We also emphasize the following points regarding focus and content: 


 in deciding on the content of MD&A, companies should focus on 
material information and eliminate immaterial information that does 
not promote understanding of companies' financial condition, liquidity 
and capital resources, changes in financial condition and results of 
operations (both in the context of profit and loss and cash flows);5 
   


 companies should identify and discuss key performance indicators, 
including non-financial performance indicators, that their 
management uses to manage the business and that would be 
material to investors; 
   


 companies must identify and disclose known trends, events, 
demands, commitments and uncertainties that are reasonably likely 
to have a material effect on financial condition or operating 
performance;6 and 
   


 companies should provide not only disclosure of information 
responsive to MD&A's requirements, but also an analysis that is 
responsive to those requirements that explains management's view of 
the implications and significance of that information and that satisfies 
the objectives of MD&A. 


C. Impact of Increased Amounts of Information Available to 
Companies 


Companies have access to and use substantially more detailed and timely 
information about their financial condition and operating performance than 
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they did when our MD&A requirements initially were introduced or when we 
last provided general interpretive guidance.7 Some of this information is 
itself non-financial in nature, but bears on companies' financial condition 
and operating performance. The increased availability of information is 
relevant to companies in preparing MD&A for the following reasons: 


 First, companies must evaluate an increased amount of information to 
determine which information they must disclose. In doing so, 
companies should avoid the unnecessary information overload for 
investors that can result from disclosure of information that is not 
required, is immaterial, and does not promote understanding. 
   


 Second, in identifying, discussing and analyzing known material 
trends and uncertainties, companies are expected to consider all 
relevant information, even if that information is not required to be 
disclosed. 


D. Liquidity and Capital Resources 


We devote a separate section of this release to disclosure in MD&A 
regarding liquidity and capital resources. In that section, we emphasize the 
need for attention to disclosure of cash requirements and sources of cash. 
We believe that: 


 companies should consider enhanced analysis and explanation of the 
sources and uses of cash and material changes in particular items 
underlying the major captions reported in their financial statements, 
rather than recitation of the items in the cash flow statements; 
   


 companies using the indirect method8 in preparing their cash flow 
statements should pay particular attention to disclosure and analysis 
of matters that are not readily apparent from their cash flow 
statements; and 
   


 companies also should consider whether their MD&A should include 
enhanced disclosure regarding debt instruments, guarantees and 
related covenants. 


E. Critical Accounting Estimates 


Finally, we have included a separate section in this release regarding 
accounting estimates and assumptions that may be material due to the 
levels of subjectivity and judgment necessary to account for highly 
uncertain matters or the susceptibility of such matters to change, and that 
have a material impact on financial condition or operating performance. 
Companies should consider enhanced discussion and analysis of these 
critical accounting estimates and assumptions that: 


 supplements, but does not duplicate, the description of accounting 
policies in the notes to the financial statements; and  
   


 provides greater insight into the quality and variability of information 
regarding financial condition and operating performance. 


F. Effect on Prior Commission Statements 
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This release does not modify existing legal requirements or create new legal 
requirements. Rather, we intend this release to assist companies in 
preparing MD&A by providing interpretive guidance and, in some cases, 
providing additional guidance in areas that the Commission has addressed 
previously. We do not believe that the guidance in this release conflicts with 
prior Commission guidance, nor is it our intention to alter any prior 
Commission guidance. 


II. Background 


The following is a chronology of certain prior Commission action regarding 
MD&A: 


1980 — We adopted the present form of the disclosure requirements for 
MD&A.9 


1981 — We published the staff's interpretive guidance for MD&A after its 
review of disclosures that were prepared in accordance with the then-
recently adopted disclosure requirements.10 


1987 — We sought public comment on the adequacy of MD&A and on 
proposed revisions submitted by members of the professional accounting 
community.11 


1989 — We published an interpretive release that addressed a number of 
disclosure matters that should be considered by companies in preparing 
MD&A.12 The 1989 Release provided guidance in various areas, including 
required prospective information, analysis of long and short-term liquidity 
and capital resources, material changes in financial statement line items, 
required interim period disclosure, segment analysis, participation in high-
yield financings, highly leveraged transactions or non-investment grade 
loans and investments, the effects of federal financial assistance upon the 
operations of financial institutions and the disclosure of preliminary merger 
negotiations. 


December 2001 — As part of its process of reviewing financial and non-
financial disclosures made by public companies, the Division of Corporation 
Finance announced that it would preliminarily review the annual reports 
filed in 2002 by the Fortune 500 companies, and undertake further review 
as appropriate, consistent with its selective review program. The focus of 
the project was to identify "disclosure that appeared to be critical to an 
understanding of each company's financial position and results, but which, 
at least on its face, seemed to conflict significantly with generally accepted 
accounting principles [GAAP] or SEC rules, or to be materially deficient in 
explanation or clarity."13 As a result of this review, comment letters, many 
of which commented on companies' MD&A, were sent to more than 350 of 
the Fortune 500 companies. Earlier this year, the Division published a 
summary of the most frequent general areas of comment resulting from 
this review.14 


December 2001 — The Commission issued cautionary advice to companies 
regarding the need for greater investor awareness of the sensitivity of 
financial statements to the methods, assumptions, and estimates 
underlying their preparation. This cautionary advice encouraged public 
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companies to include in their MD&A full explanations of their "critical 
accounting policies," the judgments and uncertainties affecting the 
application of those policies, and the likelihood that materially different 
amounts would be reported under different conditions or using different 
assumptions.15 


January 2002 — After receiving a petition requesting additional MD&A 
interpretive guidance,16 we issued a statement "to suggest steps that 
issuers should consider in meeting their current disclosure obligations with 
respect to the topics described."17 The statement provided explicit 
interpretive guidance on certain MD&A topics considered material to an 
understanding of companies' operations. The topics addressed by the 
release were liquidity and capital resources (including off-balance sheet 
arrangements), trading activities involving non-exchange traded contracts 
accounted for at fair value, and relationships and transactions with persons 
or entities that derive benefits from their non-independent relationships 
with the company or the company's related parties.18 


May 2002 — We proposed additional MD&A disclosure requirements, which 
remain under consideration, regarding the application of companies' critical 
accounting estimates.19 


January 2003 — We adopted additional disclosure requirements regarding 
off-balance sheet arrangements and aggregate contractual obligations.20 
The new rules require the disclosure of off-balance sheet arrangements in a 
designated section of MD&A and an overview of certain known contractual 
obligations in a tabular format.21 


We also have brought numerous enforcement actions based on alleged 
violations of MD&A requirements and will continue to bring such actions 
under appropriate circumstances.22 


Based on recent experiences, we have determined that additional 
interpretive guidance regarding the requirements of MD&A will be useful to 
companies in enhancing overall disclosure under MD&A requirements. 


III. Overall Approach to MD&A 


A. The Presentation of MD&A 


Since the introduction of our MD&A requirements, many companies have 
become larger, more global and more complex. At the same time, the 
combination of our rules and investors' demands have led to an increase in 
the number of subjects and matters addressed in MD&A. For these and 
other reasons, many companies' MD&A have become necessarily lengthy 
and complex. Unfortunately, the presentation of the MD&A of too many 
companies also may have become unnecessarily lengthy, difficult to 
understand and confusing. 


MD&A, like other disclosure, should be presented in clear and 
understandable language. We understand that complex companies and 
situations require disclosure of complex matters and we are not in any way 
seeking over-simplification or "dumbing down" of MD&A. However, we 
believe that companies can improve the clarity and understandability of 
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their MD&A by using language that is clearer and less convoluted. We 
believe that efforts by companies to provide clearer and better organized 
presentations of MD&A can result in more understandable disclosure that 
does not sacrifice the appropriate level of complexity or nuance. In order to 
engender better understanding, companies should prepare MD&A with a 
strong focus on the most important information, provided in a manner 
intended to address the objectives of MD&A. In particular: 


 Companies should consider whether a tabular presentation of relevant 
financial or other information may help a reader's understanding of 
MD&A. For example, a company's MD&A might be clearer and more 
concise if it provides a tabular comparison of its results in different 
periods, which could include line items and percentage changes as 
well as other information determined by a company to be useful, 
followed by a narrative discussion and analysis of known changes, 
events, trends, uncertainties and other matters. A reader's 
understanding of a company's fair value calculations or discounted 
cash flow figures also could, in some situations, be enhanced by 
providing a tabular summary of the company's various material 
interest and discount rate assumptions in one location. 
   


 Companies should consider whether the headings they use assist 
readers in following the flow of, or otherwise assist in understanding, 
MD&A, and whether additional headings would be helpful in this 
regard. 
   


 Many companies' MD&A could benefit from adding an introductory 
section or overview that would facilitate a reader's understanding. As 
with all disclosure, what companies would appropriately include in an 
introduction or overview will depend on the circumstances of the 
particular company. As a general matter, an introduction or overview 
should include the most important matters on which a company's 
executives focus in evaluating financial condition and operating 
performance and provide the context for the discussion and analysis 
of the financial statements. Therefore, an introduction or overview 
should not be a duplicative layer of disclosure that merely repeats the 
more detailed discussion and analysis that follows. 
   


 While all required information must of course be disclosed, companies 
should consider using a "layered" approach. Such an approach would 
present information in a manner that emphasizes, within the universe 
of material information that is disclosed, the information and analysis 
that is most important. This presentation would assist readers in 
identifying more readily the most important information. Using an 
overview or introduction is one example of a layered approach. 
Another is to begin a section containing detailed analysis, such as an 
analysis of period-to-period information, with a statement of the 
principal factors, trends or other matters that are the principal 
subjects covered in more detail in the section.  


We would expect a good introduction or overview to provide a balanced, 
executive-level discussion that identifies the most important themes or 
other significant matters with which management is concerned primarily in 
evaluating the company's financial condition and operating results. A good 
introduction or overview would: 
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 include economic or industry-wide factors relevant to the company; 
   


 serve to inform the reader about how the company earns revenues 
and income and generates cash; 
   


 to the extent necessary or useful to convey this information, discuss 
the company's lines of business, location or locations of operations, 
and principal products and services (but an introduction should not 
merely duplicate disclosure in the Description of Business section); 
and  
   


 provide insight into material opportunities, challenges and risks, such 
as those presented by known material trends and uncertainties, on 
which the company's executives are most focused for both the short 
and long term, as well as the actions they are taking to address these 
opportunities, challenges and risks. 


Because these matters do not generally remain static from period to period, 
we would expect the introduction to change over time to remain current. As 
is true with all sections of MD&A, boilerplate disclaimers and other generic 
language generally are not helpful in providing useful information or 
achieving balance, and would detract from the purpose of the introduction 
or overview. 


An introduction or overview, by its very nature, cannot disclose everything 
and should not be considered by itself in determining whether a company 
has made full disclosure. Further, the failure to include disclosure of every 
material item in an introduction or overview should not trigger 
automatically the application of the "buried facts" doctrine, in which a court 
would consider disclosure to be false and misleading if its overall 
significance is obscured because material is "buried," such as in a footnote 
or an appendix.23 


Throughout MD&A, including in an introduction or overview, discussion and 
analysis of financial condition and operating performance includes both past 
and prospective matters. In addressing prospective financial condition and 
operating performance, there are circumstances, particularly regarding 
known material trends and uncertainties, where forward-looking 
information is required to be disclosed. We also encourage companies to 
discuss prospective matters and include forward-looking information in 
circumstances where that information may not be required, but will provide 
useful material information for investors that promotes understanding. 


B. The Content and Focus of MD&A 


In addition to enhancing MD&A through the use of clearer language and 
presentation, many companies could improve their MD&A by focusing on 
the most important information disclosed in MD&A. Disclosure should 
emphasize material information that is required or promotes understanding 
and de-emphasize (or, if appropriate, delete) immaterial information that is 
not required and does not promote understanding. 


Our MD&A requirements call for companies to provide investors and other 
users with material information that is necessary to an understanding of the 
company's financial condition and operating performance, as well as its 
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prospects for the future.24 While the desired focus of MD&A for a particular 
company will depend on the facts and circumstances of the company, some 
guidance about the content and focus of MD&A is generally applicable. 


1. Focus on Key Indicators of Financial Condition and Operating 
Performance 


As discussed, one of the principal objectives of MD&A is to give readers a 
view of the company through the eyes of management by providing both a 
short and long-term analysis of the business.25 To do this, companies 
should "identify and address those key variables and other qualitative and 
quantitative factors which are peculiar to and necessary for an 
understanding and evaluation of the individual company."26 


Financial measures generally are the starting point in ascertaining these 
key variables and other factors. However, financial measures often tell only 
part of how a company manages its business. Therefore, when preparing 
MD&A, companies should consider whether disclosure of all key variables 
and other factors that management uses to manage the business would be 
material to investors, and therefore required.27 These key variables and 
other factors may be non-financial, and companies should consider whether 
that non-financial information should be disclosed. 


Many companies currently disclose non-financial business and operational 
data.28 Academics, authors, and consultants also have researched the types 
of information, outside of financial statement measures, that would be 
helpful to investors and other users.29 Such information may relate to 
external or macro-economic matters as well as those specific to a company 
or industry. For example, interest rates or economic growth rates and their 
anticipated trends can be important variables for many companies. 
Industry-specific measures can also be important for analysis, although 
common standards for the measures also are important. Some industries 
commonly use non-financial data, such as industry metrics and value 
drivers.30 Where a company discloses such information, and there is no 
commonly accepted method of calculating a particular non-financial metric, 
it should provide an explanation of its calculation to promote comparability 
across companies within the industry. Finally, companies may use non-
financial performance measures that are company-specific. 


In addition, if companies disclose material information (historical or 
forward-looking) other than in their filed documents (such as in earnings 
releases or publicly accessible analysts' calls or companion website 
postings) they also should evaluate that material information to determine 
whether it is required to be included in MD&A, either because it falls within 
a specific disclosure requirement or because its omission would render 
misleading the filed document in which the MD&A appears. We are not 
seeking to sweep into MD&A all the information that a company 
communicates. Rather, companies should consider their communications 
and determine what information is material and is required in, or would 
promote understanding of, MD&A. 


Since we adopted the MD&A requirements, and even since the last 
comprehensive guidance on MD&A we released in 1989, there have been 
significant advancements in the ability to develop and access information 
quickly and effectively. Changes in business enterprise systems, 
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communications and other aspects of information technology have 
significantly increased the amount of information available to management, 
as well as the speed with which they receive and are able to use 
information.31 There is therefore a larger and more up-to-date universe of 
information, financial and non-financial alike, that companies have and 
should evaluate in determining whether disclosure is required. This 
situation presents companies with the challenge of identifying information 
that is required to be disclosed or that promotes understanding, while 
avoiding unnecessary information overload for readers by not disclosing a 
greater body of information, just because it is available, where disclosure is 
not required and does not promote understanding. Further, with advances 
in technology contributing to increasing amounts and currency of 
information, the factors relied upon by companies to operate and analyze 
the business may change. As this occurs, the discussion in MD&A should 
change over time to maintain an appropriate focus on material factors.  


The focus on key performance indicators can be enhanced not only through 
the language and content of the discussion, but also through a format that 
will enhance the understanding of the discussion and analysis. The order of 
the information need not follow the order presented in Item 303 of 
Regulation S-K if another order of presentation would better facilitate 
readers' understanding. MD&A should provide a frame of reference that 
allows readers to understand the effects of material changes and events 
and known material trends and uncertainties arising during the periods 
being discussed, as well as their relative importance. To satisfy the 
objectives of MD&A, companies also should provide a balanced view of the 
underlying dynamics of the business, including not only a description of a 
company's successes, but also of instances when it failed to realize goals, if 
material. Good MD&A will focus readers' attention on these key matters. 


2. Focus on Materiality 


Companies must provide specified material information in their MD&A,32 
and they also must provide other material information that is necessary to 
make the required statements, in light of the circumstances in which they 
are made, not misleading.33 MD&A must specifically focus on known 
material events and uncertainties that would cause reported financial 
information not to be necessarily indicative of future operating performance 
or of future financial condition.34 Companies must determine, based on 
their own particular facts and circumstances, whether disclosure of a 
particular matter is required in MD&A. However, the effectiveness of MD&A 
decreases with the accumulation of unnecessary detail or duplicative or 
uninformative disclosure that obscures material information.35 Companies 
should view this guidance as an opportunity to evaluate whether there is 
information in their MD&A that is no longer material or useful, and 
therefore should be deleted, for example where there has been a change in 
their business or the information has become stale. 


As the complexity of business structures and financial transactions increase, 
and as the activities undertaken by companies become more diverse, it is 
increasingly important for companies to focus their MD&A on material 
information. In preparing MD&A, companies should evaluate issues 
presented in previous periods and consider reducing or omitting discussion 
of those that may no longer be material or helpful, or revise discussions 
where a revision would make the continuing relevance of an issue more 
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apparent. 


Companies also should focus on an analysis of the consolidated financial 
condition and operating performance, with segment data provided where 
material to an understanding of consolidated information. Segment 
discussion and analysis should be designed to avoid unnecessary 
duplication and immaterial detail that is not required and does not promote 
understanding of a company's overall financial condition and operating 
performance. 


Both Instruction 4 to Item 303 of Regulation S-K and the 1989 Release 
address the requirement of discussion and analysis of changes in line items. 
A review of current MD&A provided by some companies, however, reveals 
that this is a portion of MD&A that can include an excessive amount of 
duplicative disclosure, as well as disclosure of immaterial items that do not 
promote understanding. The 1989 Release explicitly provides for the 
grouping of line items for purposes of discussion and analysis in a manner 
that avoids duplicative disclosure. In addition, Instruction 4 and the 
guidance in the 1989 Release do not require a discussion of every line item 
and its changes without regard to materiality. Discussion of a line item and 
its changes should be avoided where the information that would be 
disclosed is not material and would not promote understanding of MD&A. 


Companies also must assess the materiality of items in preparing disclosure 
in their quarterly reports. There may be different quantitative and 
qualitative factors to consider when deciding whether to include certain 
information in a specific quarterly or annual report. The 1989 Release 
addresses some aspects of MD&A disclosure in the context of quarterly 
filings. That release clarifies that material changes to items disclosed in 
MD&A in annual reports should be discussed in the quarter in which they 
occur.36 There also may be circumstances where an item may not be 
material in the context of a discussion of annual results of operations but is 
material in the context of interim results.  


Disclosure in MD&A in quarterly reports is complementary to that made in 
the most recent annual report and in any intervening quarterly reports. 
Therefore, there may be cases, particularly where adequate disclosure is 
included in the MD&A in those earlier reports, where further disclosure in a 
quarterly report is not necessary. If, however, disclosure in those earlier 
reports does not adequately foreshadow subsequent events, or if new 
information that impacts known trends and uncertainties becomes apparent 
in a quarterly period, additional disclosure should be considered and may 
be required. 


3. Focus on Material Trends and Uncertainties 


One of the most important elements necessary to an understanding of a 
company's performance, and the extent to which reported financial 
information is indicative of future results, is the discussion and analysis of 
known trends, demands, commitments, events and uncertainties. 
Disclosure decisions concerning trends, demands, commitments, events, 
and uncertainties generally should involve the: 


 consideration of financial, operational and other information known to 
the company; 
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 identification, based on this information, of known trends and 


uncertainties; and  
   


 assessment of whether these trends and uncertainties will have, or 
are reasonably likely to have, a material impact on the company's 
liquidity, capital resources or results of operations. 


As we have explained in prior guidance, disclosure of a trend, demand, 
commitment, event or uncertainty is required unless a company is able to 
conclude either that it is not reasonably likely that the trend, uncertainty or 
other event will occur or come to fruition, or that a material effect on the 
company's liquidity, capital resources or results of operations is not 
reasonably likely to occur.37 (In this release we sometimes use the term 
"known material trends and uncertainties" to describe trends, demands, 
commitments, events or uncertainties as to which disclosure is required.) 


In identifying known material trends and uncertainties, companies should 
consider the substantial amount of financial and non-financial information 
available to them, and whether or not the available information itself is 
required to be disclosed. This information, over time, may reveal a trend or 
general pattern in activity, a departure or isolated variance from an 
established trend, an uncertainty, or a reasonable likelihood of the 
occurrence of such an event that should be disclosed. 


One of the principal objectives of MD&A is to provide information about the 
quality and potential variability of a company's earnings and cash flow, so 
that readers can ascertain the likelihood that past performance is indicative 
of future performance. Ascertaining this indicative value depends to a 
significant degree on the quality of disclosure about the facts and 
circumstances surrounding known material trends and uncertainties in 
MD&A. Quantification of the material effects of known material trends and 
uncertainties can promote understanding. Quantitative disclosure should be 
considered and may be required to the extent material if quantitative 
information is reasonably available. 


As discussed in the 1989 Release, the disclosures required to address 
known material trends and uncertainties in the discussion and analysis 
should not be confused with optional forward-looking information. Not all 
forward-looking information falls within the realm of optional disclosure. In 
particular, material forward-looking information regarding known material 
trends and uncertainties is required to be disclosed as part of the required 
discussion of those matters and the analysis of their effects.38 In addition, 
forward-looking information is required in connection with the disclosure in 
MD&A regarding off-balance sheet arrangements.39 


4. Focus on Analysis 


MD&A requires not only a "discussion" but also an "analysis" of known 
material trends, events, demands, commitments and uncertainties. MD&A 
should not be merely a restatement of financial statement information in a 
narrative form. When a description of known material trends, events, 
demands, commitments and uncertainties is set forth, companies should 
consider including, and may be required to include, an analysis explaining 
the underlying reasons or implications, interrelationships between 
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constituent elements, or the relative significance of those matters. 


Identifying the intermediate effects of trends, events, demands, 
commitments and uncertainties alone, without describing the reasons 
underlying these effects, may not provide sufficient insight for a reader to 
see the business through the eyes of management. A thorough analysis 
often will involve discussing both the intermediate effects of those matters 
and the reasons underlying those intermediate effects. For example, if a 
company's financial statements reflect materially lower revenues resulting 
from a decline in the volume of products sold when compared to a prior 
period, MD&A should not only identify the decline in sales volume, but also 
should analyze the reasons underlying the decline in sales when the 
reasons are also material and determinable. The analysis should reveal 
underlying material causes of the matters described, including for example, 
if applicable, difficulties in the manufacturing process, a decline in the 
quality of a product, loss in competitive position and market share, or a 
combination of conditions. 


Similarly, where a company's financial statements reflect material 
restructuring or impairment charges, or a decline in the profitability of a 
plant or other business activity, MD&A should also, where material, analyze 
the reasons underlying these matters, such as an inability to realize 
previously projected economies of scale, a failure to renew or secure key 
customer contracts, or a failure to keep downtime at acceptable levels due 
to aging equipment. Whether favorable or unfavorable conditions constitute 
or give rise to the material trends, demands, commitments, events or 
uncertainties being discussed, the analysis should consist of material 
substantive information and present a balanced view of the underlying 
dynamics of the business. 


If there is a reasonable likelihood that reported financial information is not 
indicative of a company's future financial condition or future operating 
performance due, for example, to the levels of subjectivity and judgment 
necessary to account for highly uncertain matters and the susceptibility of 
such matters to change, appropriate disclosure in MD&A should be 
considered and may be required. For example, if a change in an estimate 
has a material favorable impact on earnings, the change and the underlying 
reasons should be disclosed so that readers do not incorrectly attribute the 
effect to operational improvements. In addition, if events and transactions 
reported in the financial statements reflect material unusual or non-
recurring items, aberrations, or other significant fluctuations, companies 
should consider the extent of variability in earnings and cash flow, and 
provide disclosure where necessary for investors to ascertain the likelihood 
that past performance is indicative of future performance. Companies also 
should consider whether the economic characteristics of any of their 
business arrangements, or the methods used to account for them, 
materially impact their results of operations or liquidity in a structured or 
unusual fashion, where disclosure would be necessary to understand the 
amounts depicted in their financial statements. 


IV. Liquidity and Capital Resources 


Our rules require companies to provide disclosure in the related categories 
of liquidity and capital resources.40 This information is critical to an 
assessment of a company's prospects for the future and even the likelihood 
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of its survival.41 A company is required to include in MD&A the following 
information, to the extent material: 


 historical information regarding sources of cash and capital 
expenditures; 
   


 an evaluation of the amounts and certainty of cash flows; 
   


 the existence and timing of commitments for capital expenditures and 
other known and reasonably likely cash requirements; 
   


 discussion and analysis of known trends and uncertainties; 
   


 a description of expected changes in the mix and relative cost of 
capital resources; 
   


 indications of which balance sheet or income or cash flow items 
should be considered in assessing liquidity; and  
   


 a discussion of prospective information regarding companies' sources 
of and needs for capital, except where otherwise clear from the 
discussion.42 


Discussion and analysis of this information should be considered and may 
be required to provide a clear picture of the company's ability to generate 
cash and to meet existing and known or reasonably likely future cash 
requirements. 


In determining required or appropriate disclosure, companies should 
evaluate separately their ability to meet upcoming cash requirements over 
both the short and long term.43 Merely stating that a company has 
adequate resources to meet its short-term and/or long-term cash 
requirements is insufficient unless no additional more detailed or nuanced 
information is material. In particular, such a statement would be insufficient 
if there are any known material trends or uncertainties related to cash flow, 
capital resources, capital requirements, or liquidity. 


A. Cash Requirements 


In order to identify known material cash requirements, companies should 
consider whether the following information would have a material impact on 
liquidity (discussion of immaterial matters, and especially generic disclosure 
or boilerplate, should be avoided): 


 funds necessary to maintain current operations, complete projects 
underway and achieve stated objectives or plans; 
   


 commitments for capital or other expenditures;44 and 
   


 the reasonably likely exposure to future cash requirements associated 
with known trends or uncertainties, and an indication of the time 
periods in which resolution of the uncertainties is anticipated. 


One starting point for a company's discussion and analysis of cash 
requirements is the tabular disclosure of contractual obligations,45 
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supplemented with additional information that is material to an 
understanding of the company's cash requirements.46 


For example, if a company has incurred debt in material amounts, it should 
explain the reasons for incurring that debt and the use of the proceeds, and 
analyze how the incurrence of that debt fits into the overall business plan, 
in each case to the extent material.47 Where debt has been incurred for 
general working capital purposes, the anticipated amount and timing of 
working capital needs should be discussed, to the extent material.48 


Companies should address, where material, the difficulties involved in 
assessing the effect of the amount and timing of uncertain events, such as 
loss contingencies, on cash requirements and liquidity. Any such discussion 
should be specific to the circumstances and informative, and companies 
should avoid generic or boilerplate disclosure. In addition, because of these 
difficulties and uncertainties, companies should consider whether they need 
to make or change disclosure in connection with quarterly as well as annual 
reports. 


B. Sources and Uses of Cash 


As with the discussion and analysis of the results of operations, a 
company's discussion and analysis of cash flows should not be a mere 
recitation of changes and other information evident to readers from the 
financial statements. Rather, MD&A should focus on the primary drivers of 
and other material factors necessary to an understanding of the company's 
cash flows and the indicative value of historical cash flows. 


In addition to explaining how the cash requirements identified in MD&A fit 
into a company's overall business plan, the company should focus on the 
resources available to satisfy those cash requirements. Where there has 
been material variability in historical cash flows, MD&A should focus on the 
underlying reasons for the changes, as well as on their reasonably likely 
impact on future cash flows and cash management decisions. Even where 
reported amounts of cash provided and used by operations, investing 
activities or financing have been consistent, if the underlying sources of 
those cash flows have materially varied, analysis of that variability should 
be provided. The discussion and analysis of liquidity should focus on 
material changes in operating, investing and financing cash flows, as 
depicted in the statement of cash flows, and the reasons underlying those 
changes. 


1. Operations 


The discussion and analysis of operating cash flows should not be limited by 
the manner of presentation in the statement of cash flows.49 Alternate 
accounting methods of deriving and presenting cash flows exist, and while 
they generally yield the same numeric result in the major captions, they 
involve the disclosure of different types of information. When preparing the 
discussion and analysis of operating cash flows, companies should address 
material changes in the underlying drivers (e.g. cash receipts from the sale 
of goods and services and cash payments to acquire materials for 
manufacture or goods for resale), rather than merely describe items 
identified on the face of the statement of cash flows, such as the reconciling 
items used in the indirect method of presenting cash flows.50 
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For example, consider a company that reports an overall increase in the 
components of its working capital other than cash51 with the effect of 
having a material decrease in net cash provided by operations in the 
current period. If the increase in working capital was driven principally by 
an increase in accounts receivable that is attributable not to an increase in 
sales, but rather to a revised credit policy resulting in an extended payment 
period for customers, these facts would need to be addressed in MD&A to 
the extent material, along with the resulting decrease in cash provided by 
operations, if not otherwise apparent. In addition, if there is a material 
trend or uncertainty, the impact of the new credit policy on cash flows from 
operations should be disclosed.52 While a cash flow statement prepared 
using the indirect method would report that various individual components 
of working capital increased or decreased during the period by a specified 
amount, it would not provide a sufficient basis for a reader to analyze the 
change. If the company reports negative cash flows from operations, the 
disclosure provided in MD&A should identify clearly this condition, discuss 
the operational reasons for the condition if material, and explain how the 
company intends to meet its cash requirements and maintain operations. If 
the company relies on external financing in these situations, disclosure of 
that fact and the company's assessment of whether this financing will 
continue to be available, and on what terms, should be considered and may 
be required. 


A company should consider whether, in order to make required disclosures, 
it is necessary to expand MD&A to address the cash requirements of and 
the cash provided by its reportable segments or other subdivisions of the 
business, including issues related to foreign subsidiaries, as well as the 
indicative nature of those results.53 A company also should discuss the 
effect of an inability to access the cash flow and financial assets of any 
consolidated entities. For example, an entity may be consolidated but, 
because the company lacks sufficient voting interests or the assets are 
legally isolated, the company may be unable to utilize the entity's cash 
flow, cash on hand, or other assets to satisfy its own liquidity needs. 


2. Financing 


To the extent material, a company must provide disclosure regarding its 
historical financing arrangements and their importance to cash flows, 
including, to the extent material, information that is not included in the 
financial statements. A company should discuss and analyze, to the extent 
material: 


 its external debt financing; 
   


 its use of off-balance sheet financing arrangements; 
   


 its issuance or purchase of derivative instruments linked to its stock;
   


 its use of stock as a form of liquidity; and 
   


 the potential impact of known or reasonably likely changes in credit 
ratings or ratings outlook (or inability to achieve changes). 


In addition to these historical items, discussion and analysis of the types of 
financing that are, or that are reasonably likely to be, available (or of the 
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types of financing that a company would want to use but that are, or are 
reasonably likely to be, unavailable) and the impact on the company's cash 
position and liquidity, should be considered and may be required. For 
example, where a company has decided to raise or seeks to raise material 
external equity or debt financing, or if it is reasonably likely to do so in the 
future, discussion and analysis of the amounts or ranges involved, the 
nature and the terms of the financing, other features of the financing and 
plans, and the impact on the company's cash position and liquidity (as well 
as results of operations in the case of matters such as interest payments) 
should be considered and may be required.54 


C. Debt Instruments, Guarantees and Related Covenants 


There are at least two scenarios in which companies should consider 
whether discussion and analysis of material covenants related to their 
outstanding debt (or covenants applicable to the companies or third parties 
in respect of guarantees or other contingent obligations)55 may be 
required.56 


First, companies that are, or are reasonably likely to be, in breach of such 
covenants57 must disclose material information about that breach and 
analyze the impact on the company if material. That analysis should 
include, as applicable and to the extent material: 


 the steps that the company is taking to avoid the breach; 
   


 the steps that the company intends to take to cure, obtain a waiver of 
or otherwise address the breach; 
   


 the impact or reasonably likely impact of the breach (including the 
effects of any cross-default or cross-acceleration or similar provisions) 
on financial condition or operating performance; and 
   


 alternate sources of funding to pay off resulting obligations or replace 
funding. 


Second, companies should consider the impact of debt covenants on their 
ability to undertake additional debt or equity financing. Examples of these 
covenants include, but are not limited to, debt incurrence restrictions, 
limitations on interest payments, restrictions on dividend payments and 
various debt ratio limits. If these covenants limit, or are reasonably likely to 
limit, a company's ability to undertake financing to a material extent, the 
company is required to discuss the covenants in question and the 
consequences of the limitation to the company's financial condition and 
operating performance. Disclosure of alternate sources of funding and, to 
the extent material, the consequences (including but not limited to the 
cost) of accessing them should also be considered and may be required. 


D. Cash Management 


Companies generally have some degree of flexibility in determining when 
and how to use their cash resources to satisfy obligations and make other 
capital expenditures. MD&A should describe known material trends or 
uncertainties relating to such determinations. For example, a decision by a 
company in a highly capital-intensive business to spend significantly less on 
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plant and equipment than it has historically may result in long-term effects 
that should be disclosed if material. Material effects could include more 
cash, less interest expense and lower depreciation, but higher future repair 
and maintenance expenses or a higher cost base than the company would 
otherwise have. 


V. Critical Accounting Estimates 


Many estimates and assumptions involved in the application of GAAP have a 
material impact on reported financial condition and operating performance 
and on the comparability of such reported information over different 
reporting periods. Our December 2001 Release reminded companies that, 
under the existing MD&A disclosure requirements, a company should 
address material implications of uncertainties associated with the methods, 
assumptions and estimates underlying the company's critical accounting 
measurements.58 In May 2002 we proposed rules, which remain under 
consideration, that would broaden the scope of disclosures beyond those 
currently required.59 


When preparing disclosure under the current requirements, companies 
should consider whether they have made accounting estimates or 
assumptions where: 


 the nature of the estimates or assumptions is material due to the 
levels of subjectivity and judgment necessary to account for highly 
uncertain matters or the susceptibility of such matters to change; and 
 
   


 the impact of the estimates and assumptions on financial condition or 
operating performance is material. 


If so, companies should provide disclosure about those critical accounting 
estimates or assumptions in their MD&A. 


Such disclosure should supplement, not duplicate, the description of 
accounting policies that are already disclosed in the notes to the financial 
statements. The disclosure should provide greater insight into the quality 
and variability of information regarding financial condition and operating 
performance. While accounting policy notes in the financial statements 
generally describe the method used to apply an accounting principle, the 
discussion in MD&A should present a company's analysis of the 
uncertainties involved in applying a principle at a given time or the 
variability that is reasonably likely to result from its application over time.  


A company should address specifically why its accounting estimates or 
assumptions bear the risk of change. The reason may be that there is an 
uncertainty attached to the estimate or assumption, or it just may be 
difficult to measure or value. Equally important, companies should address 
the questions that arise once the critical accounting estimate or assumption 
has been identified, by analyzing, to the extent material, such factors as 
how they arrived at the estimate, how accurate the estimate/assumption 
has been in the past, how much the estimate/assumption has changed in 
the past, and whether the estimate/assumption is reasonably likely to 
change in the future. Since critical accounting estimates and assumptions 
are based on matters that are highly uncertain, a company should analyze 
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their specific sensitivity to change, based on other outcomes that are 
reasonably likely to occur and would have a material effect. Companies 
should provide quantitative as well as qualitative disclosure when 
quantitative information is reasonably available and will provide material 
information for investors. 


For example, if reasonably likely changes in the long-term rate of return 
used in accounting for a company's pension plan would have a material 
effect on the financial condition or operating performance of the company, 
the impact that could result given the range of reasonably likely outcomes 
should be disclosed and, because of the nature of estimates of long-term 
rates of return, quantified.  


Amendments to the Codification of Financial Reporting Policies 


The "Codification of Financial Reporting Policies" announced in Financial 
Reporting Release 1 (April 15, 1982) [47 FR 21028] is updated: 


1. By adding to the following new sections to the Financial Reporting 
Codification from the release: 


(III) Overall Approach to MD&A 


(IV) Liquidity and Capital Resources 


(V) Critical Accounting Estimates 


2. By revising the footnotes from those sections of the release which 
contain a short form citation to include the complete citation form rather 
than the short form. 


3. By renumbering the footnotes from those sections of the release to run 
in the Financial Reporting Codification consecutively from number 1 through 
number 37. 


The Codification is a separate publication of the Commission. It will not be 
published in the Code of Federal Regulations System. 


List of Subjects 


17 CFR Part 211, 231 and 241 


Securities. 


Amendments to the Code of Federal Regulations. 


For the reasons set forth above, the Commission is amending title 17, 
chapter II of the Code of Federal Regulations as set forth below: 


PART 211 — INTERPRETATIONS RELATING TO FINANCIAL 
REPORTING MATTERS 


1. Part 211, Subpart A, is amended by adding Release No. FR-72 and the 
release date of December 19, 2003 to the list of interpretive releases. 
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PART 231 — INTERPRETATIVE RELEASES RELATING TO THE 
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 AND GENERAL RULES AND REGULATIONS 
THEREUNDER 


2. Part 231 is amended by adding Release No. 33-8350 and the release 
date of December 19, 2003 to the list of interpretive releases. 


PART 241 — INTERPRETATIVE RELEASES RELATING TO THE 
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND GENERAL RULES AND 
REGULATIONS THEREUNDER 


3. Part 241 is amended by adding Release No. 34-48960 and the release 
date of December 19, 2003 to the list of interpretive releases. 


By the Commission. 


Dated: December 19, 2003 


Endnotes 


1 The requirements are set forth in Item 303 of Regulation S-K 
(Management's Discussion & Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations) [17 CFR 229.303], Items 303(b) and (c) of Regulation S-B 
(Management's Discussion & Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations, and Off-balance sheet arrangements) [17 CFR 228.303(b) and 
(c)], Item 5 of Form 20-F (Operating and Financial Review and Prospects) 
[17 CFR 249.220f], and General Instruction B.(11) of Form 40-F (Off-
balance sheet arrangements) [17 CFR 249.240f]. 


Although the wording of the MD&A requirement in Form 20-F was revised in 
1999, the Commission's adopting release noted that we interpret that Item 
as calling for the same disclosure as Item 303 of Regulation S-K. See 
Release No. 33-7745 (Sept. 28, 1999) [64 FR 53900 at 59304]. In addition, 
Instruction 1 to Item 5 in Form 20-F provides that issuers should refer to 
the Commission's 1989 interpretive release on MD&A disclosure under Item 
303 of Regulation S-K (Interpretive Release: Management's Discussion and 
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations; Certain 
Investment Company Disclosures, Release No. 33-6835 (May 18, 1989) [54 
FR 22427] (the "1989 Release")) for guidance in preparing the discussion 
and analysis by management of the company's financial condition and 
results of operations required in Form 20-F. Therefore, although this 
release refers primarily to Item 303 of Regulation S-K, it also is intended to 
apply to MD&A drafted pursuant to Item 5 of Form 20-F. 


In addition, the guidance in this release applies to small business issuers 
that are subject to the disclosure requirements of Items 303(b) and (c) of 
Regulation S-B. Small business issuers, like all other companies subject to 
SEC reporting obligations, should consider the interpretive guidance based 
on their own particular facts and circumstances. 


2 Item 303(a) of Regulation S-K [17 CFR 229.303(a)].
 


Margaret H. McFarland 
Deputy Secretary 
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3 See Commission Statement About Management's Discussion and Analysis 
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, Release No. 33-8056 (Jan. 
22, 2002) [67 FR 3746] ("January 2002 Release"). 


4 See Summary by the Division of Corporation Finance of Significant Issues 
Addressed in the Review of the Periodic Reports of the Fortune 500 
Companies (Feb. 27, 2003) ("Fortune 500 Summary") available at 
www.sec.gov/divisions/corpfin/fortune500rep.htm. 


5 In this release we sometimes use the term "financial condition and 
operating performance" to refer to the required subjects of MD&A of 
financial condition, liquidity and capital resources, changes in financial 
condition and results of operations (both in the context of profit and loss 
and cash flows). 


6 Note 27 to the 1989 Release states, "MD&A mandates disclosure of 
specified forward-looking information, and specifies its own standards for 
disclosure — i.e., reasonably likely to have a material effect. The specific 
standard governs the circumstances in which Item 303 requires disclosure. 
The probability/magnitude test for materiality approved by the Supreme 
Court in Basic v. Levinson, 108 S.Ct. 978 (1988), is inapposite to Item 303 
disclosure." 


7 See, e.g., Improving Business Reporting — A Customer Focus; Meeting 
the Information Needs of Investors and Creditors, Comprehensive Report of 
the Special Committee on Financial Reporting, American Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) (1994) ("Jenkins Report"). 


8 In Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows (Nov. 
1987), the FASB allowed the indirect method of reporting net cash flow 
from operating activities by adjusting net income to reconcile it to net cash 
flow from operating activities. Under that method, the major classes of 
operating cash receipts and payments are determined indirectly by 
determining the change in asset and liability accounts that relate to 
operating income. However, in SFAS 95, the FASB encouraged companies 
to use the direct method of reporting net cash flow from operating activities 
rather than the indirect method. The direct method reports net cash flow 
from operations by summing major classes of gross cash receipts, such as 
customer payments, and gross cash payments, such as cash paid to 
employees. The direct method also requires a reconciliation of net income 
to net cash flow from operating activities. The FASB gave its opinion that 
the direct method is "the more comprehensive and presumably more useful 
approach." 


While this release refers primarily to U.S. GAAP, the underlying events and 
circumstances described in the release ordinarily will be applicable to 
foreign private issuers and should be discussed to the extent material. 
Consistent with the Instructions to Form 20-F, however, companies using 
that form should focus on the primary financial statements in their 
discussion and analysis in Item 5 (Operative and Financial Review 
Prospects). Also, companies are required to discuss in Item 5 of Form 20-F 
any aspects of the differences between foreign and U.S. GAAP that they 
believe are necessary for an understanding of the financial statements as a 
whole. See Instruction 2 to Item 5 of Form 20-F [17 CFR 249.220f]. 
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9 Final Rule: Amendments to Annual Report Form, Related Forms, Rules, 
Regulations, and Guides; Integration of Securities Acts Disclosure Systems, 
Release No. 33-6231 (Sept. 2, 1980) [45 FR 63630]. 


10 Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results 
of Operations, Release No. 33-6349 (Sept. 28, 1981) 23 SEC Docket 962 
[Release not published in the Federal Register]. 


11 Concept Release on Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Operations, Release No. 33-6711 (April 24, 1987) [52 FR 
13715]. 


12 1989 Release.
 


13 Fortune 500 Summary.
 


14 Id.
 


15 Cautionary Advice Regarding Disclosure About Critical Accounting 
Policies, Release No. 33-8040 (Dec. 12, 2001) [66 FR 65013] ("December 
2001 Release"). 


16 On December 31, 2001 the Commission received a petition from Arthur 
Andersen LLP, Deloitte and Touche, LLP, Ernst & Young LLP, KPMG LLP and 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. The American Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants endorsed the petition. A copy of the petition is available at 
www.sec.gov/rules/petitions/petndiscl_12312001.htm. 


17 See January 2002 Release.
 


18 Id.
 


19 Proposed Rule: Disclosure in Management's Discussion and Analysis 
about the Application of Critical Accounting Policies, Release No. 33-8098 
(May 10, 2002) [67 FR 35620] ("2002 Critical Accounting Policies 
Proposal"). 


20 Final Rule: Disclosure in Management's Discussion and Analysis About 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Aggregate Contractual Obligations, 
Release No. 33-8182 (Jan. 28, 2003) [68 FR 5982] ("2003 Off-Balance 
Sheet Release"). 


The overall guidance in this Interpretive Release is applicable to all MD&A 
discussions, including those related to off-balance sheet arrangements. As 
such, it should be applied to General Instruction B.(11) of Form 40-F and 
Item 303(c) of Regulation S-B, in addition to the other sections set out in 
note 1, above. We are not addressing specifically disclosures of off-balance 
sheet arrangements in this release, however, because we have little 
experience with companies' application of the new rules, which are effective 
for companies' registration statements, annual reports and proxy or 
information statements that are required to include financial statements for 
their fiscal years ending on or after June 15, 2003. Companies (other than 
small business issuers) must include the table of contractual obligations in 
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registration statements, annual reports, and proxy or information 
statements that are required to include financial statements for the fiscal 
years ending on or after December 15, 2003. In addition, Section 401(c) of 
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires us to complete a study and report to the 
President and Congress next year on these types of disclosures. 


21 The tabular disclosure is not required for small business issuers by Item 
303 of Regulation S-B. 


22 See, e.g., In the Matter of Edison Schools, Inc., Release No. 34-45925 
(May 14, 2002); In the Matter of Sony Corporation and Sumio Sano, 
Release No. 34-40305 (Aug. 5, 1998); In the Matter of Bank of Boston 
Corp., Initial Decision Release No. 81 (Dec. 22, 1995); In the Matter of 
Gibson Greetings, Inc., Ward A. Cavanaugh, and James H. Johnsen, 
Release No. 34-36357 (Oct. 11, 1995); In the Matter of America West 
Airlines, Inc., Release No. 34-34047 (May 12, 1994); In the Matter of 
Salant Corporation and Martin F. Tynan, Release No. 34-34046 (May 12, 
1994); In the Matter of Shared Medical Systems Corporation, Release No. 
34-33632 (Feb. 17, 1994); In the Matter of Caterpillar Inc., Release No. 
34-30532 (Mar. 31, 1992); In the Matter of American Express Company, 
Release No. 34-23332 (June 17, 1986). 


23 See, e.g., Final Rule: Plain English Disclosure, Release No. 33-7497 (Jan. 
28, 1998) [63 FR 6370 at 6375] (citing Gould v. American Hawaiian 
Steamship Company, 331 F. Supp. 981 (D. Del. 1971); Kohn v. American 
Metal Climax, Inc., 322 F. Supp. 1331 (E.D. Pa. 1970), modified, 458 F.2d 
255 (3d Cir. 1972).) 


24 See 1989 Release, Part III.A.
 


25 See, e.g., Release No. 33-6711 (Apr. 24, 1987) [52 FR 13715 at 13717] 
("an opportunity to look at the company through the eyes of management 
by providing both a short and long-term analysis of the business of the 
company.").  


26 1989 Release, Part III.A (citing Release No. 33-6349 (Sept. 28, 1981) 23 
SEC Docket 962 at 964 [Release not published in the Federal Register]). 


27 Examples of such other factors, depending on the circumstances of a 
particular company, can include manufacturing plant capacity and 
utilization, backlog, trends in bookings and employee turnover rates. See, 
e.g., Quality, Transparency, Accountability, Lynn E. Turner, Chief 
Accountant, Securities and Exchange Commission, Remarks before Financial 
Executives Institute (Apr. 26, 2001), available at 
www.sec.gov/news/speech/spch485.htm. 


Companies should also consider disclosing information that may be 
peripheral to the accounting function, but is integral to the business or 
operating activity. Examples of such measures, depending on the 
circumstances of a particular company, can include those based on units or 
volume, customer satisfaction, time-to-market, interest rates, product 
development, service offerings, throughput capacity, affiliations/joint 
undertakings, market demand, customer/vendor relations, employee 
retention, business strategy, changes in the managerial approach or 
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structure, regulatory actions or regulatory environment, and any other 
pertinent macroeconomic measures. Because these measures are generally 
non-financial in nature, we do not believe that their disclosure generally will 
raise issues under Item 10(e) of Regulation S-K [17 CFR 229.10(e)] or 
Item 10(h) of Regulation S-B [17 CFR 228.10(h)]. 


28 See Improving Business Reporting: Insights into Enhancing Voluntary 
Disclosures, Steering Committee Report of the Business Reporting Research 
Project of the FASB (2001) available at www.fasb.org; the Jenkins Report; 
Financial Accounting Series Special Report, Business and Financial 
Reporting, Challenges from the New Economy (FASB) (2001) ("Special 
Report on Improving Business Reporting"). 


29 See Special Report on Improving Business Reporting.
 


30 See, e.g., the Jenkins Report; the Special Report on Improving Business 
Reporting. 


31 See the Jenkins Report.
 


32 See, e.g., Item 303(a)(1) of Regulation S-K [17 CFR 229.303(a)(1)] 
(requiring the identification of "known trends or known demands, 
commitments, events or uncertainties that will result in or that are 
reasonably likely to result in the registrant's liquidity increasing or 
decreasing in any material way"). See also Item 303(a)(2)(i) of Regulation 
S-K [17 CFR 229.303(a)(2)(i)] (requiring a description of registrant's 
material commitments for capital expenditures). 


33 See Securities Act Rule 408 [17 CFR 230.408], Securities Exchange Act 
of 1934 Section 10(b) [15 U.S.C. §78j(b)], Exchange Act Rule 10b-5 [17 
CFR 240.10b-5], and Exchange Act Rule 12b-20 [17 CFR 240.12b-20]. See 
also, In the Matter of Edison Schools, Inc., Release No. 34-45925 (May 14, 
2002) (finding, among other things, that the company failed to provide 
accurate and complete disclosure about its reported revenues); In the 
Matter of Sony Corporation and Sumio Sano, Release No. 34-40305 (Aug. 
5, 1998) (finding that the company violated Section 13(a) of the Exchange 
Act by making inadequate disclosures about the nature and the extent of 
Sony Pictures' net losses and their impact on the consolidated results Sony 
was reporting); In the Matter of Caterpillar Inc., Release No. 34-30532 
(Mar. 31, 1992) (finding failure to disclose the impact of a subsidiary's 
foreign operations on the company's results of operations violated Section 
13(a) of the Exchange Act). 


34 Instruction 3 to Item 303(a) of Regulation S-K [17 CFR 229.303(a)].
 


35 See, e.g., Instruction 4 to Item 303(a) of Regulation S-K (indicating that 
repetition and line-by-line analysis is not required nor is it appropriate when 
the causes for a change in one line item also relate to other line items and 
indicating that, to the extent the changes from year to year are readily 
computable from the financial statements, the changes need not be recited 
in the discussion). The 1989 Release also addressed these points directly. 
See 1989 Release, Part III.D. 


Where companies believe that information from the face of financial 
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statements is helpful to readers in MD&A, they should consider using a 
tabular presentation that shows the decimal percentages of components or 
year-over-year percentage changes of the financial statement line items. 
An appropriate analysis of this data, to the extent that it is material, should 
accompany the tabular presentation consistent with the guidance in Section 
III.B.3 of this Release. 


36 See 1989 Release, Part III.E.
 


37 See January 2002 Release at 3748 ("two assessments management must 
make where a trend, demand, commitment, event or uncertainty is known: 
1. Is the known trend, demand, commitment, event or uncertainty likely to 
come to fruition? If management determines that it is not reasonably likely 
to occur, no disclosure is required. 2. If management cannot make that 
determination, it must evaluate objectively the consequences of the known 
trend, demand, commitment, event or uncertainty, on the assumption that 
it will come to fruition. Disclosure is then required unless management 
determines that a material effect on the registrant's financial condition or 
results of operations is not reasonably likely to occur" (citing the 1989 
Release)). 


38 See 1989 Release, Part III.B.
 


39 In connection with our adoption of the off-balance sheet arrangements 
disclosure requirements, we eliminated a portion of the instructions in Item 
303 of Regulation S-K that stated that registrants were not required to 
provide forward-looking information. Deleting that portion of the 
instructions did not affect requirements to provide forward-looking 
information in other circumstances where required or reduce the availability 
of any safe harbor for forward-looking information. See also 2003 Off-
Balance Sheet Release. See Securities Act Section 27A [15 U.S.C. §77z-2], 
Securities Act Rule 175 [17 CFR 230.175], Exchange Act Section 21E [17 
U.S.C. §78u-5], and Exchange Act Rule 3b-6 [17 CFR 240.3b-6]. 


40 See Item 303(a)(1) and (2) of Regulation S-K [17 CFR 229.303(a)(1) 
and (2)]. 


41 See January 2002 Release; 2003 Off-Balance Sheet Release.
 


42 See 1989 Release, Part III.C. See also Item 303(a)(1) and (2) of 
Regulation S-K [17 CFR 229.303(a)(1) and (2)], and Instructions 2 and 5 
thereto. 


43 Short-term liquidity is defined as a period of twelve months or less and 
long-term is defined as a period in excess of twelve months. See 1989 
Release, Part III.C. Note that the period of time over which a long-term 
discussion of liquidity is relevant is dependent upon the timing of the cash 
requirements of a company, as well as the period of time over which cash 
flows are managed. A vague reference to periods in excess of twelve 
months may not be sufficient. 


44 See Item 303(a)(2)(i) of Regulation S-K [17 CFR 229.303(a)(2)(i)].
 


45 See Item 303(a)(5) of Regulation S-K [17 CFR 229.303(a)(5)].
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46 For example, the cash requirements for items such as interest, taxes or 
amounts to be funded to cover post-employment (including retirement) 
benefits may not be included in the tabular disclosure, but should be 
discussed if material. 


47 For example, debt may have been issued to fund the construction of a 
new plant, which will allow the company to expand its operations into a 
specific geographic area. Understanding that relationship and the expected 
commencement date of plant operations puts the cash requirement for the 
debt into an appropriate context to understand liquidity. 


48 Companies are reminded of their related disclosure obligations under 
Item 504 (Use of Proceeds) of Regulation S-K [17 CFR 229.504] and the 
requirement to update this disclosure in Item 701(f) (Use of Proceeds) of 
Regulation S-K [17 CFR 229.701(f)]. 


49 See Instruction 4 to Item 303(a) of Regulation S-K [17 CFR 229.303(a)].


50 See SFAS No. 95.
 


51 Working capital is defined as current assets less current liabilities. See 
Chapter 3, AICPA Accounting Research Bulletin (ARB) No. 43, Restatement 
and Revision of Accounting Research Bulletins (June 1953). 


52 To the extent that this change also materially impacts results of 
operations, discussion and analysis would also be required in that section, 
but companies should attempt to avoid unnecessary or confusing 
duplication. 


53 See Item 303(a) of Regulation S-K [17 CFR 229.303(a)].
 


54 We believe that disclosure satisfying the requirements of MD&A can be 
made consistently with the restrictions of Section 5 of the Securities Act. 
See, e.g., Securities Act Rules 135c [17 CFR 230.135c]. 


55 See FASB Interpretation No. (FIN) 45, Guarantor's Accounting and 
Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of 
Indebtedness of Others (Nov. 2002); 2003 Off-Balance Sheet Release; and 
the discussion infra, regarding off-balance sheet arrangements. 


56 See In the Matter of America West Airlines, Inc., Release No. 34-34047 
(May 12, 1994) (finding that the company failed to discuss uncertainties 
regarding its ability to comply with covenants). 


57 Companies also must take a similar approach to discussion and analysis 
with respect to mandatory prepayment provisions, "put" rights and other 
similar provisions.  


58 December 2001 Release.
 


59 See 2002 Critical Accounting Policies Proposal.
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ASC 740-10-20 


Current Tax Expense (or Benefit) 


The amount of income taxes paid or payable (or refundable) for a year 
as determined by applying the provisions of the enacted tax law to the 
taxable income or excess of deductions over revenues for that year. 
[FAS 109, paragraph 289] 












ASC 740-10-25-3 


The only exceptions in applying those basic requirements are: 


a. Certain exceptions to the requirements for recognition of deferred taxes whereby a deferred 
tax liability is not recognized for the following types of temporary differences unless it 
becomes apparent that those temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future:


1. An excess of the amount for financial reporting over the tax basis of an 
investment in a foreign subsidiary or a foreign corporate joint venture that is 
essentially permanent in duration. See paragraphs 740-30-25-18 through 25-19 
for the specific requirements related to this exception.


2. Undistributed earnings of a domestic subsidiary or a domestic corporate joint 
venture that is essentially permanent in duration that arose in fiscal years 
beginning on or before December 15, 1992. A last-in, first-out (LIFO) pattern 
determines whether reversals pertain to differences that arose in fiscal years 
beginning on or before December 15, 1992. See paragraphs 740-30-25-18 
through 25-19 for the specific requirements related to this exception.


3. Bad debt reserves for tax purposes of U.S. savings and loan associations (and 
other qualified thrift lenders) that arose in tax years beginning before December 
31, 1987. See paragraphs 942-740-25-1 through 25-3 for the specific 
requirements related to this exception.


4. Policyholders' surplus of stock life insurance entities that arose in fiscal years 
beginning on or before December 15, 1992. See paragraph 944-740-25-2 for the 
specific requirements related to this exception.


b. Recognition of temporary differences related to deposits in statutory reserve funds by U.S. 
steamship entities (see paragraph 995-740-25-2) 


c. The pattern of recognition of after-tax income for leveraged leases or the allocation of the 
purchase price in a purchase business combination to acquired leveraged leases as required by 
Subtopic 840-30


d. A prohibition on recognition of a deferred tax liability related to goodwill (or the portion 
thereof) for which amortization is not deductible for tax purposes (see paragraph 
805-740-25-3)


e. A prohibition on recognition of a deferred tax asset for the intra-entity difference between the 
tax basis of the assets in the buyer's tax jurisdiction and their cost as reported in the 
consolidated financial statements. Income taxes paid on intra-entity profits on assets 
remaining within the group are accounted for under the requirements of Subtopic 810-10.


f. A prohibition on recognition of a deferred tax liability or asset for differences related to assets 
and liabilities that, under Subtopic 830-10, are remeasured from the local currency into the 
functional currency using historical exchange rates and that result from changes in exchange 
rates or indexing for tax purposes. See Subtopic 830-740 for guidance on foreign currency 
related income taxes matters. [FAS 109, paragraph 9]












ASC 740-10-30-4 


Deferred Tax Expense (or Benefit) 


Deferred tax expense (or benefit) is the change during the year in an 
entity's deferred tax liabilities and assets. For deferred tax liabilities 
and assets recognized in a business combination or in an acquisition by 
a not-for-profit entity during the year, it is the change since the 
acquisition date. Paragraph 830-740-45-1 addresses the manner of 
reporting the transaction gain or loss that is included in the net change 
in a deferred foreign tax liability or asset when the reporting currency 
is the functional currency. [FAS 109, paragraph 16]












ASC Topic 740-10-50-12 through 50-14 


Public Entities 


A public entity shall disclose a reconciliation using percentages or dollar amounts of the reported 
amount of income tax expense attributable to continuing operations for the year to the amount of 
income tax expense that would result from applying domestic federal statutory tax rates to pretax 
income from continuing operations. The statutory tax rates shall be the regular tax rates if there 
are alternative tax systems. The estimated amount and the nature of each significant reconciling 
item shall be disclosed. [FAS 109, paragraph 47] 


Nonpublic Entities 


A nonpublic entity shall disclose the nature of significant reconciling items but may omit a 
numerical reconciliation. [FAS 109, paragraph 47] 


All Entities 


If not otherwise evident from the disclosures required by this Section, all entities shall disclose 
the nature and effect of any other significant matters affecting comparability of information for 
all periods presented. [FAS 109, paragraph 47] 








ASC 740-10-50-15 


All entities shall disclose all of the following at the end of each annual reporting period presented: 


a. Subparagraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update No. 2009-06


1. Subparagraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update No. 2009-06


2. Subparagraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update No. 2009-06


3. Subparagraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update No. 2009-06


4. Subparagraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update No. 2009-06


b. Subparagraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update No. 2009-06


c. The total amounts of interest and penalties recognized in the statement of
operations and the total amounts of interest and penalties recognized in 
the statement of financial position 


d. For positions for which it is reasonably possible that the total amounts of
unrecognized tax benefits will significantly increase or decrease within 12 
months of the reporting date: 


1. The nature of the uncertainty 


2. The nature of the event that could occur in the next 12 months that
would cause the change  


3. An estimate of the range of the reasonably possible change or a
statement that an estimate of the range cannot be made. 


e. A description of tax years that remain subject to examination by major tax
jurisdictions. [FIN 48, paragraph 21] 








ASC 740-10-50-15A 


a. A tabular reconciliation of the total amounts of unrecognized tax benefits at
the beginning and end of the period, which shall include at a minimum: 


1. The gross amounts of the increases and decreases in unrecognized tax
benefits as a result of tax positions taken during a prior period 


2. The gross amounts of increases and decreases in unrecognized tax
benefits as a result of tax positions taken during the current period 


3. The amounts of decreases in the unrecognized tax benefits relating to
settlements with taxing authorities 


4. Reductions to unrecognized tax benefits as a result of a lapse of the
applicable statute of limitations. 


b. The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would affect
the effective tax rate. [ASU 2009–06, paragraph 5] 


 


Public entities shall disclose both of the following at the end of each annual reporting 
period presented


See Example 30 (paragraph 740-10-55-217) for an illustration of disclosures about 
uncertainty in income taxes. 












ASC 740-10-50-17 


Entities with Separately Issued Financial Statements that Are Members of a Consolidated Tax 
Return 


An entity that is a member of a group that files a consolidated tax 
return shall disclose in its separately issued financial statements: 


a. The aggregate amount of current and deferred tax expense for each 
statement of earnings presented and the amount of any tax-related 
balances due to or from affiliates as of the date of each statement of 
financial position presented 


b. The principal provisions of the method by which the consolidated 
amount of current and deferred tax expense is allocated to members of 
the group and the nature and effect of any changes in that method (and 
in determining related balances to or from affiliates) during the years 
for which the above disclosures are presented. [FAS 109, paragraph 49]












ASC Topic 740-10-50-19 


 Interest and Penalty Recognition Policies 


An entity shall disclose its policy on classification of interest and penalties in accordance with 
the alternatives permitted in paragraph 740-10-45-25 in the notes to the financial statements. 
[FIN 48, paragraph 20] 








ASC 740-10-50-2, 6, 8 and 16 


a. The total of all deferred tax liabilities measured in paragraph 740-10-30-5(b)


b. The total of all deferred tax assets measured in paragraph 740-10-30-5(c) through
(d)


c. The total valuation allowance recognized for deferred tax assets determined in
paragraph 740-10-30-5(e).


The net change during the year in the total valuation allowance also shall be 
disclosed. [FAS 109, paragraph 43] 


Public Entities 


50-6    


A public entity shall disclose the approximate tax effect of each type of temporary 
difference and carryforward that gives rise to a significant portion of deferred tax 
liabilities and deferred tax assets (before allocation of valuation allowances). [FAS 
109, paragraph 43] 


Nonpublic Entities 


50-8    


A nonpublic entity shall disclose the types of significant temporary differences and 
carryforwards but may omit disclosure of the tax effects of each type. [FAS 109, 
paragraph 43] 


Public Entities Not Subject to Income Taxes 


50-16    


A public entity that is not subject to income taxes because its income is taxed 
directly to its owners shall disclose that fact and the net difference between the 
tax bases and the reported amounts of the entity's assets and liabilities. [FAS 109, 
paragraph 43] 


50-2    
 
The components of the net deferred tax liability or asset recognized in an entity's 
statement of financial position shall be disclosed as follows: 












ASC 740-10-50-20 


Investment Tax Credit Recognition Policy 


Paragraph 740-10-25-46 identifies the deferral method and the flow-through 
method as acceptable methods of accounting for investment tax credits. Whichever 
method of accounting for the investment credit is adopted, it is essential that full 
disclosure be made of the method followed and amounts involved, when material. 
[APB 04, paragraph 11] 








ASC 740-10-50-3 


An entity shall disclose both of the following:  


a. The amounts and expiration dates of operating loss and tax credit
carryforwards for tax purposes  


b. Any portion of the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets for which
subsequently recognized tax benefits will be credited directly to 
contributed capital (see paragraph 740-20-45-11). [FAS 109, paragraph 48] 








ASC Topic 740-10-50-9  


The significant components of income tax expense attributable to continuing 
operations for each year presented shall be disclosed in the financial statements or 
notes thereto. Those components would include, for example: 


a. Current tax expense (or benefit)


b. Deferred tax expense (or benefit) (exclusive of the effects of other
components listed below)  


c. Investment tax credits 


d. Government grants (to the extent recognized as a reduction of
income tax expense)  


e. The benefits of operating loss carryforwards 


f. Tax expense that results from allocating certain tax benefits either
directly to contributed capital or to reduce goodwill or other noncurrent 
intangible assets of an acquired entity 


g. Adjustments of a deferred tax liability or asset for enacted changes in
tax laws or rates or a change in the tax status of the entity 


h. Adjustments of the beginning-of-the-year balance of a valuation
allowance because of a change in circumstances that causes a change in 
judgment about the realizability of the related deferred tax asset in 
future years. [FAS 109, paragraph 45] 












ASC 740-270-50-1 


Variations in Customary Income Tax Expense Relationships 


Application of the requirements for accounting for income taxes in 
interim periods may result in a significant variation in the customary 
relationship between income tax expense and pretax accounting 
income. The reasons for significant variations in the customary 
relationship between income tax expense and pretax accounting 
income shall be disclosed in the interim period financial statements if 
they are not otherwise apparent from the financial statements or from 
the nature of the entity's business. [FIN 18, paragraph 25]












ASC Topic 740-30-50-2 


All of the following information shall be disclosed whenever a deferred tax liability 
is not recognized because of the exceptions to comprehensive recognition of deferred 
taxes related to subsidiaries and corporate joint ventures: 


a. A description of the types of temporary differences for which a deferred tax
liability has not been recognized and the types of events that would cause those 
temporary differences to become taxable 


b. The cumulative amount of each type of temporary difference


c. The amount of the unrecognized deferred tax liability for temporary differences
related to investments in foreign subsidiaries and foreign corporate joint ventures that 
are essentially permanent in duration if determination of that liability is practicable or 
a statement that determination is not practicable. While paragraph 740-30-25-14 
prohibits recognition of a tax benefit for tax deductions or favorable tax rates 
attributable to future dividends of undistributed earnings for which a deferred tax 
liability has not been recognized, favorable tax treatment would be reflected in 
measuring that unrecognized deferred tax liability for disclosure purposes. 


d. The amount of the deferred tax liability for temporary differences other than those
in (c) (that is, undistributed domestic earnings) that is not recognized in 
accordance with the provisions of paragraph 740-30-25-18. [FAS 109, paragraph 44] 








ASC 805-10-50-6 


If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete (see paragraphs 805- 
10-25-13 through 25-14) for particular assets, liabilities, noncontrolling interests, or items 
of consideration and the amounts recognized in the financial statements for the business 
combination thus have been determined only provisionally, the acquirer shall disclose the 
following information for each material business combination or in the aggregate for 
individually immaterial business combinations that are material collectively to meet the 
objective in preceding paragraph:  


a. The reasons why the initial accounting is incomplete
 
b. The assets, liabilities, equity interests, or items of consideration for which the
initial accounting is incomplete  


c. The nature and amount of any measurement period adjustments recognized
during the reporting period in accordance with paragraph 805-10-25-17. 
[FAS 141(R), paragraph 72] 








ASC 805-30-50-1 


Business Combinations Occurring during a Current Reporting Period or after the 
Reporting Date but before the Financial Statements Are Issued 


Paragraph 805-10-50-1 identifies one of the objectives of disclosures about a 
business combination. To meet that objective, the acquirer shall disclose all of the 
following information for each business combination that occurs during the reporting 
period: 


a.
such as expected synergies from combining operations of the acquiree and the 
acquirer, intangible assets that do not qualify for separate recognition, or other 
factors. 


b. The acquisition-date fair value of the total consideration transferred and the
acquisition-date fair value of each major class of consideration, such as the
following:


1. Cash


2. Other tangible or intangible assets, including a business or subsidiary of
the acquirer


3. Liabilities incurred, for example, a liability for contingent consideration


4. Equity interests of the acquirer, including the number of instruments or
interests issued or issuable and the method of determining the fair value
of those instruments or interests.


c. For contingent consideration arrangements, all of the following:


1. The amount recognized as of the acquisition date


2. A description of the arrangement and the basis for determining the
amount of the payment


3. An estimate of the range of outcomes (undiscounted) or, if a range
cannot be estimated, that fact and the reasons why a range cannot be
estimated. If the maximum amount of the payment is unlimited, the
acquirer shall disclose that fact.


d. The total amount of goodwill that is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.


A qualitative description of the factors that make up the goodwill recognized,







e. If the acquirer is required to disclose segment information in accordance with 
Subtopic 280-10, the amount of goodwill by reportable segment. If the 
assignment of goodwill to reporting units required by paragraphs 350-20-35-41 
through 35-44 has not been completed as of the date the financial statements are 
issued or are available to be issued (as discussed in Section 855-10-25), the 
acquirer shall disclose that fact. 


f. In a bargain purchase (see paragraphs 805-30-25-2 through 25-4), both of the 
following: 


1. The amount of any gain recognized in accordance with paragraph 805- 
30-25-2 and the line item in the income statement in which the gain is 
recognized 


2. A description of the reasons why the transaction resulted in a gain. 
[FAS 141(R), paragraph 68]








ASC 810-10-45-8 


If income taxes have been paid on intra-entity profits on assets 
remaining within the consolidated group, those taxes shall be deferred 
or the intra-entity profits to be eliminated in consolidation shall be 
appropriately reduced. [ARB 51, paragraph 17]








ASC 855-10-50-2 


Nonrecognized Subsequent Events 


Some nonrecognized subsequent events may be of such a nature that they must be 
disclosed to keep the financial statements from being misleading. For such events, 
an entity shall disclose the following:  


a. The nature of the event 


b. An estimate of its financial effect, or a statement that such an estimate cannot be
made. [FAS 165, paragraph 13] 
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SEC Regulations Committee 


April 17, 2007 - Joint Meeting with SEC Staff 


SEC Offices – Washington DC 
 
Discussion Document E 
 
 
Topic:  Disclosure of FIN 48 Liabilities in the Contractual Obligations Table 
 
 
Issue:   
 
Are FIN 48 liabilities required to be included in the MD&A tabular disclosure of contractual 
obligations? 
 
Background:   
 
Regulation S-K Item 303(a)(5) requires MD&A for annual periods to include a tabular 
disclosure of “known contractual obligations,” including those related to long-term debt 
obligations, capital lease obligations, operating lease obligations, and purchase obligations.  
The prescribed table also includes the caption “other long-term liabilities reflected on the 
registrant's balance sheet under GAAP.”   
 
Instruction 7 to Regulation S-K Item 303(b) states, “The registrant is not required to include 
the table required by paragraph (a)(5) of this Item for interim periods. Instead, the registrant 
should disclose material changes outside the ordinary course of the registrant's business in 
the specified contractual obligations during the interim period.” 
 
FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, FIN 48, is effective 
for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006.  FIN 48 removes income taxes from the 
scope of FASB Statement No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies, and creates a single model to 
address uncertainty in income tax positions. FIN 48 utilizes a two-step approach for the 
recognition and measurement of tax positions. Recognition requires the enterprise to 
conclude that a tax position, based solely on its technical merits, is more likely than not to be 
sustained upon examination. Measurement is based on the largest amount of benefit, 
determined on a cumulative probability basis, that is more likely than not to be realized upon 
ultimate settlement. Those tax positions failing to qualify for initial recognition are recognized 
in the first subsequent interim period that they meet the more-likely-than-not standard, are 
resolved through negotiation or litigation with the taxing authority, or on expiration of the 
statute of limitations. 
 
Paragraph 17 of FIN 48 states, 
 


As a result of applying this Interpretation, the amount of benefit recognized in the 
statement of financial position may differ from the amount taken or expected to be 
taken in a tax return for the current year.  These differences represent unrecognized 
tax benefits, which are the differences between a tax position taken or expected to be 
taken in a tax return and the benefit recognized and measured pursuant to this 
Interpretation.  A liability is created (or the amount of a net operating loss 
carryforward or amount refundable is reduced) for an unrecognized tax benefit 
because it represents an enterprise’s potential future obligation to the taxing authority 
for a tax position that was not recognized pursuant to this Interpretation.  An 
enterprise that presents a classified statement of financial position shall classify a 
liability associated with an unrecognized tax benefit as a current liability (or the 
amount of a net operating loss carryforward or amount refundable is reduced) to the 
extent the enterprise anticipates payment (or receipt) of cash within one year or the 
operating cycle, if longer.  The liability for unrecognized tax benefits (or reduction in 
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amounts refundable) shall not be combined with deferred tax liabilities or assets. 
(Emphasis added) 


At the 2006 AICPA National Conference on Current SEC and PCAOB Developments, a 
member of the SEC staff stated that, given the objectives of the table and its usefulness to 
investors, it made sense to include FIN 48 liabilities in the contractual obligations table, with 
disclosure in the footnotes to the table of any assumptions underlying the estimates of the 
periods in which such liabilities will be settled in cash. 
 
Question 1: 
 
Must a registrant’s tabular disclosure of contractual obligations include liabilities for 
unrecognized tax benefits recorded under FIN 48? 
 
View A:  Yes.  FIN 48 liabilities are reflected on the registrant's balance sheet under GAAP as 
current liabilities and/or other long-term liabilities.  Accordingly, the registrant should include 
all FIN 48 liabilities in its contractual obligations table based on its best estimate of the period 
of settlement.  In addition, any significant judgments made by management when disclosing 
such liabilities in the contractual obligations table should be discussed in the footnotes 
accompanying the table.   
 
View B:   No.  While FIN 48 liabilities are legally enforceable obligations, they are not 
contractual obligations.  Because the scope of MD&A table is limited to contractual obligations, 
a registrant should not include any FIN 48 liabilities in its contractual obligations table. 
 
View C:   Yes, a registrant should consider FIN 48 liabilities for inclusion in the contractual 
obligations table in MD&A. A registrant should include FIN 48 liabilities in the contractual 
obligations table if it can make reasonable estimates about the related demands on its 
liquidity.  For example, if any FIN 48 liabilities are classified as a current liability in the 
registrant’s balance sheet, a registrant should include that amount in the “Less than 1 year” 
column of its contractual obligations table.  Similarly, the contractual obligations table should 
include any noncurrent FIN 48 liabilities for which the registrant can make a reasonable 
estimate of the amount and period of related future payments (e.g., uncertain tax positions 
subject to an ongoing examination by the respective taxing authority for which settlement is 
expected to occur beyond the next operating cycle). However, there is often a high degree of 
uncertainty regarding the timing of future cash outflows associated with some FIN 48 liabilities, 
and, in those cases, a registrant might be unable to make reasonable estimates of the period 
of cash settlement with the respective taxing authority (e.g., unrecognized tax benefits for 
which the statute of limitations might expire without examination by the respective taxing 
authority). A registrant could exclude from the table that component of the FIN 48 liability for 
which reasonable estimates cannot be made, or disclose such amounts within an “other” 
column added to the table. To the extent any FIN 48 liabilities are excluded from the 
contractual obligations table or included in an “other” column, a footnote to the table should 
disclose the amounts excluded and the basis for such exclusion.    
 
 
Committee Recommendation:  The Committee supports View C.   
 
SEC Staff Response:   The staff supports View C.   
 
Question 2: 
 
The table of contractual obligations included in the most recent Form 10-K might have 
included or excluded amounts related to income tax contingencies, as determined under the 
registrant’s previous accounting policy.  In the interim period of adoption of FIN 48, what 
MD&A disclosures are required related to the table of contractual obligations? 
 
 
View A:  The registrant should provide a complete table, if there are material differences from 
the table in the Form 10-K.  MD&A in the first Form 10-Q reflecting the adoption of FIN 48 
should update the table of contractual obligations for any material amounts related to FIN 48 
liabilities (on a basis consistent with View C to Question 1). 
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View B:  MD&A in the first Form 10-Q reflecting the adoption of FIN 48 should provide 
narrative disclosures regarding any material effects of FIN 48 liabilities on the table of 
contractual obligations. 
 
View C:  None. Interim MD&A rules only require disclosure of “material changes outside the 
ordinary course of the registrant's business in the specified contractual obligations during the 
interim period.”  The adoption of FIN 48 does not represent a material change in the 
underlying economic exposure from uncertain tax positions, only the way in which the related 
liability is recognized and measured. Accordingly, no interim MD&A disclosure would be 
required absent a material change, outside the ordinary course of business, in the liability for 
unrecognized tax benefits during the interim period. 
 
Committee Recommendation:  The Committee supports View C.   
 
SEC Staff Response:   The staff indicated they would accept either View A or B.   
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§ 229.303 — (Item 303) Management's discussion and analysis of 
financial condition and results of operations. 


(a) Full fiscal years. Discuss registrant's financial condition, changes in financial condition and 
results of operations. The discussion shall provide information as specified in paragraphs (a)(1) 
through (5) of this Item and also shall provide such other information that the registrant believes to 
be necessary to an understanding of its financial condition, changes in financial condition and 
results of operations. Discussions of liquidity and capital resources may be combined whenever the 
two topics are interrelated. Where in the registrant's judgment a discussion of segment information 
or of other subdivisions of the registrant's business would be appropriate to an understanding of 
such business, the discussion shall focus on each relevant, reportable segment or other subdivision 
of the business and on the registrant as a whole. 


(1) Liquidity. Identify any known trends or any known demands, commitments, events or 
uncertainties that will result in or that are reasonably likely to result in the registrant's liquidity 
increasing or decreasing in any material way. If a material deficiency is identified, indicate the 
course of action that the registrant has taken or proposes to take to remedy the deficiency. Also 
identify and separately describe internal and external sources of liquidity, and briefly discuss any 
material unused sources of liquid assets. 


(2) Capital resources. (i) Describe the registrant's material commitments for capital expenditures as 
of the end of the latest fiscal period, and indicate the general purpose of such commitments and the 
anticipated source of funds needed to fulfill such commitments. 


(ii) Describe any known material trends, favorable or unfavorable, in the registrant's capital 
resources. Indicate any expected material changes in the mix and relative cost of such resources. 
The discussion shall consider changes between equity, debt and any off-balance sheet financing 
arrangements. 


(3) Results of operations. (i) Describe any unusual or infrequent events or transactions or any 
significant economic changes that materially affected the amount of reported income from 
continuing operations and, in each case, indicate the extent to which income was so affected. In 
addition, describe any other significant components of revenues or expenses that, in the registrant's 
judgment, should be described in order to understand the registrant's results of operations. 


(ii) Describe any known trends or uncertainties that have had or that the registrant reasonably 
expects will have a material favorable or unfavorable impact on net sales or revenues or income 
from continuing operations. If the registrant knows of events that will cause a material change in the 
relationship between costs and revenues (such as known future increases in costs of labor or 
materials or price increases or inventory adjustments), the change in the relationship shall be 
disclosed. 


(iii) To the extent that the financial statements disclose material increases in net sales or revenues, 
provide a narrative discussion of the extent to which such increases are attributable to increases in 
prices or to increases in the volume or amount of goods or services being sold or to the introduction 
of new products or services. 


(iv) For the three most recent fiscal years of the registrant or for those fiscal years in which the 
registrant has been engaged in business, whichever period is shortest, discuss the impact of 
inflation and changing prices on the registrant's net sales and revenues and on income from 
continuing operations. 


(4) Off-balance sheet arrangements. (i) In a separately-captioned section, discuss the registrant's 
off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future effect 
on the registrant's financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results 







2 


of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources that is material to investors. The 
disclosure shall include the items specified in paragraphs (a)(4)(i)(A), (B), (C) and (D) of this Item to 
the extent necessary to an understanding of such arrangements and effect and shall also include 
such other information that the registrant believes is necessary for such an understanding. 


(A) The nature and business purpose to the registrant of such off-balance sheet arrangements; 


(B) The importance to the registrant of such off-balance sheet arrangements in respect of its 
liquidity, capital resources, market risk support, credit risk support or other benefits; 


(C) The amounts of revenues, expenses and cash flows of the registrant arising from such 
arrangements; the nature and amounts of any interests retained, securities issued and other 
indebtedness incurred by the registrant in connection with such arrangements; and the nature and 
amounts of any other obligations or liabilities (including contingent obligations or liabilities) of the 
registrant arising from such arrangements that are or are reasonably likely to become material and 
the triggering events or circumstances that could cause them to arise; and 


(D) Any known event, demand, commitment, trend or uncertainty that will result in or is reasonably 
likely to result in the termination, or material reduction in availability to the registrant, of its off-
balance sheet arrangements that provide material benefits to it, and the course of action that the 
registrant has taken or proposes to take in response to any such circumstances. 


(ii) As used in this paragraph (a)(4), the term off-balance sheet arrangement means any transaction, 
agreement or other contractual arrangement to which an entity unconsolidated with the registrant is 
a party, under which the registrant has: 


(A) Any obligation under a guarantee contract that has any of the characteristics identified in FASB 
ASC paragraph 460-10-15-4 (Guarantees Topic), as may be modified or supplemented, and that is 
not excluded from the initial recognition and measurement provisions of FASB ASC paragraphs 
460-10-15-7, 460-10-25-1, and 460-10-30-1. 


(B) A retained or contingent interest in assets transferred to an unconsolidated entity or similar 
arrangement that serves as credit, liquidity or market risk support to such entity for such assets; 


(C) Any obligation, including a contingent obligation, under a contract that would be accounted for 
as a derivative instrument, except that it is both indexed to the registrant's own stock and classified 
in stockholders' equity in the registrant's statement of financial position, and therefore excluded from 
the scope of FASB ASC Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging, pursuant to FASB ASC subparagraph 
815-10-15-74(a), as may be modified or supplemented; or 


(D) Any obligation, including a contingent obligation, arising out of a variable interest (as defined in 
the FASB ASC Master Glossary), as may be modified or supplemented) in an unconsolidated entity 
that is held by, and material to, the registrant, where such entity provides financing, liquidity, market 
risk or credit risk support to, or engages in leasing, hedging or research and development services 
with, the registrant. 


(5) Tabular disclosure of contractual obligations. (i) In a tabular format, provide the information 
specified in this paragraph (a)(5) as of the latest fiscal year end balance sheet date with respect to 
the registrant's known contractual obligations specified in the table that follows this paragraph 
(a)(5)(i). The registrant shall provide amounts, aggregated by type of contractual obligation. The 
registrant may disaggregate the specified categories of contractual obligations using other 
categories suitable to its business, but the presentation must include all of the obligations of the 
registrant that fall within the specified categories. A presentation covering at least the periods 
specified shall be included. The tabular presentation may be accompanied by footnotes to describe 
provisions that create, increase or accelerate obligations, or other pertinent data to the extent 
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necessary for an understanding of the timing and amount of the registrant's specified contractual 
obligations. 


Contractual obligations 


Payments due by period 


3-5 
years 


More than 5 
years Total


Less than 1 
year 


1-3 
years 


[Long-Term Debt Obligations]   


[Capital Lease Obligations]   


[Operating Lease Obligations]   


[Purchase Obligations]   


[Other Long-Term Liabilities Reflected on the Registrant's 
Balance Sheet under GAAP]      


Total   


(ii) Definitions: The following definitions apply to this paragraph (a)(5): 


(A) Long-term debt obligation means a payment obligation under long-term borrowings referenced in 
FASB ASC paragraph 470-10-50-1 (Debt Topic), as may be modified or supplemented. 


(B) Capital lease obligation means a payment obligation under a lease classified as a capital lease 
pursuant to FASB ASC Topic 840, Leases, as may be modified or supplemented. 


(C) Operating lease obligation means a payment obligation under a lease classified as an operating 
lease and disclosed pursuant to FASB ASC Topic 840, as may be modified or supplemented. 


(D) Purchase obligation means an agreement to purchase goods or services that is enforceable and 
legally binding on the registrant that specifies all significant terms, including: fixed or minimum 
quantities to be purchased; fixed, minimum or variable price provisions; and the approximate timing 
of the transaction.  


Instructions to paragraph 303(a): 1. The registrant's discussion and analysis shall be of the 
financial statements and other statistical data that the registrant believes will enhance a 
reader's understanding of its financial condition, changes in financial condition and results of 
operations. Generally, the discussion shall cover the three-year period covered by the financial 
statements and shall use year-to-year comparisons or any other formats that in the registrant's 
judgment enhance a reader's understanding. However, where trend information is relevant, 
reference to the five-year selected financial data appearing pursuant to Item 301 of Regulation 
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S-K (§ 229.301) may be necessary. A smaller reporting company's discussion shall cover the 
two-year period required in Article 8 of Regulation S-X and shall use year-to-year comparisons 
or any other formats that in the registrant's judgment enhance a reader's understanding.  


2. The purpose of the discussion and analysis shall be to provide to investors and other users 
information relevant to an assessment of the financial condition and results of operations of the 
registrant as determined by evaluating the amounts and certainty of cash flows from operations 
and from outside sources. 


3. The discussion and analysis shall focus specifically on material events and uncertainties 
known to management that would cause reported financial information not to be necessarily 
indicative of future operating results or of future financial condition. This would include 
descriptions and amounts of (A) matters that would have an impact on future operations and 
have not had an impact in the past, and (B) matters that have had an impact on reported 
operations and are not expected to have an impact upon future operations. 


4. Where the consolidated financial statements reveal material changes from year to year in 
one or more line items, the causes for the changes shall be described to the extent necesary to 
an understanding of the registrant's businesses as a whole; Provided, however, That if the 
causes for a change in one line item also relate to other line items, no repetition is required and 
a line-by-line analysis of the financial statements as a whole is not required or generally 
appropriate. Registrants need not recite the amounts of changes from year to year which are 
readily computable from the financial statements. The discussion shall not merely repeat 
numerical data contained in the consolidated financial statements. 


5. The term “liquidity” as used in this Item refers to the ability of an enterprise to generate 
adequate amounts of cash to meet the enterprise's needs for cash. Except where it is otherwise 
clear from the discussion, the registrant shall indicate those balance sheet conditions or income 
or cash flow items which the registrant believes may be indicators of its liquidity condition. 
Liquidity generally shall be discussed on both a long-term and short-term basis. The issue of 
liquidity shall be discussed in the context of the registrant's own business or businesses. For 
example a discussion of working capital may be appropriate for certain manufacturing, industrial 
or related operations but might be inappropriate for a bank or public utility. 


6. Where financial statements presented or incorporated by reference in the registration 
statement are required by § 210.4-08(e)(3) of Regulation S-X [17 CFR part 210] to include 
disclosure of restrictions on the ability of both consolidated and unconsolidated subsidiaries to 
transfer funds to the registrant in the form of cash dividends, loans or advances, the discussion 
of liquidity shall include a discussion of the nature and extent of such restrictions and the impact 
such restrictions have had and are expected to have on the ability of the parent company to 
meet its cash obligations. 


7. Any forward-looking information supplied is expressly covered by the safe harbor rule for 
projections. See Rule 175 under the Securities Act [17 CFR 230.175], Rule 3b-6 under the 
Exchange Act [17 CFR 240.3b-6] and Securities Act Release No. 6084 (June 25, 1979) (44 FR 
38810). 


8. Registrants are only required to discuss the effects of inflation and other changes in prices 
when considered material. This discussion may be made in whatever manner appears 
appropriate under the circumstances. All that is required is a brief textual presentation of 
management's views. No specific numerical financial data need be presented except as Rule 3-
20(c) of Regulation S-X (§ 210.3-20(c) of this chapter) otherwise requires. However, registrants 
may elect to voluntarily disclose supplemental information on the effects of changing prices as 
provided for in FASB ASC Topic 255, Changing Prices, or through other supplemental 
disclosures. The Commission encourages experimentation with these disclosures in order to 
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provide the most meaningful presentation of the impact of price changes on the registrant's 
financial statements. 


9. Registrants that elect to disclose supplementary information on the effects of changing prices 
as specified by FASB ASC Topic 255 may combine such explanations with the discussion and 
analysis required pursuant to this Item or may supply such information separately with 
appropriate cross reference. 


10. All references to the registrant in the discussion and in this Item shall mean the registrant 
and its subsidiaries consolidated. 


11. Foreign private registrants also shall discuss briefly any pertinent governmental economic, 
fiscal, monetary, or political policies or factors that have materially affected or could materially 
affect, directly or indirectly, their operations or investments by United States nationals. 


12. If the registrant is a foreign private issuer, the discussion shall focus on the primary financial 
statements presented in the registration statement or report. There shall be a reference to the 
reconciliation to United States generally accepted accounting principles, and a discussion of 
any aspects of the difference between foreign and United States generally accepted accounting 
principles, not discussed in the reconciliation, that the registrant believes is necessary for an 
understanding of the financial statements as a whole. 


13. The attention of bank holding companies is directed to the information called for in Guide 3 
(§ 229.801(c) and § 229.802(c)). 


14. The attention of property-casualty insurance companies is directed to the information called 
for in Guide 6 (§ 229.801(f)). 


Instructions to paragraph 303(a)(4): 1. No obligation to make disclosure under paragraph (a)(4) 
of this Item shall arise in respect of an off-balance sheet arrangement until a definitive 
agreement that is unconditionally binding or subject only to customary closing conditions exists 
or, if there is no such agreement, when settlement of the transaction occurs. 


2. Registrants should aggregate off-balance sheet arrangements in groups or categories that 
provide material information in an efficient and understandable manner and should avoid 
repetition and disclosure of immaterial information. Effects that are common or similar with 
respect to a number of off-balance sheet arrangements must be analyzed in the aggregate to 
the extent the aggregation increases understanding. Distinctions in arrangements and their 
effects must be discussed to the extent the information is material, but the discussion should 
avoid repetition and disclosure of immaterial information. 


3. For purposes of paragraph (a)(4) of this Item only, contingent liabilities arising out of 
litigation, arbitration or regulatory actions are not considered to be off-balance sheet 
arrangements. 


4. Generally, the disclosure required by paragraph (a)(4) shall cover the most recent fiscal year. 
However, the discussion should address changes from the previous year where such 
discussion is necessary to an understanding of the disclosure. 


5. In satisfying the requirements of paragraph (a)(4) of this Item, the discussion of off-balance 
sheet arrangements need not repeat information provided in the footnotes to the financial 
statements, provided that such discussion clearly cross-references to specific information in the 
relevant footnotes and integrates the substance of the footnotes into such discussion in a 
manner designed to inform readers of the significance of the information that is not included 
within the body of such discussion. 
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(b) Interim periods. If interim period financial statements are included or are required to be included 
by Article 3 of Regulation S-X (17 CFR 210), a management's discussion and analysis of the 
financial condition and results of operations shall be provided so as to enable the reader to assess 
material changes in financial condition and results of operations between the periods specified in 
paragraphs (b) (1) and (2) of this Item. The discussion and analysis shall include a discussion of 
material changes in those items specifically listed in paragraph (a) of this Item, except that the 
impact of inflation and changing prices on operations for interim periods need not be addressed. 


(1) Material changes in financial condition. Discuss any material changes in financial condition from 
the end of the preceding fiscal year to the date of the most recent interim balance sheet provided. If 
the interim financial statements include an interim balance sheet as of the corresponding interim 
date of the preceding fiscal year, any material changes in financial condition from that date to the 
date of the most recent interim balance sheet provided also shall be discussed. If discussions of 
changes from both the end and the corresponding interim date of the preceding fiscal year are 
required, the discussions may be combined at the discretion of the registrant. 


(2) Material changes in results of operations. Discuss any material changes in the registrant's results 
of operations with respect to the most recent fiscal year-to-date period for which an income 
statement is provided and the corresponding year-to-date period of the preceding fiscal year. If the 
registrant is required to or has elected to provide an income statement for the most recent fiscal 
quarter, such discussion also shall cover material changes with respect to that fiscal quarter and the 
corresponding fiscal quarter in the preceding fiscal year. In addition, if the registrant has elected to 
provide an income statement for the twelve-month period ended as of the date of the most recent 
interim balance sheet provided, the discussion also shall cover material changes with respect to that 
twelve-month period and the twelve-month period ended as of the corresponding interim balance 
sheet date of the preceding fiscal year. Notwithstanding the above, if for purposes of a registration 
statement a registrant subject to paragraph (b) of § 210.3-03 of Regulation S-X provides a 
statement of income for the twelve-month period ended as of the date of the most recent interim 
balance sheet provided in lieu of the interim income statements otherwise required, the discussion 
of material changes in that twelve-month period will be in respect to the preceding fiscal year rather 
than the corresponding preceding period.  


Instructions to paragraph (b) of Item 303: 1. If interim financial statements are presented 
together with financial statements for full fiscal years, the discussion of the interim financial 
information shall be prepared pursuant to this paragraph (b) and the discussion of the full fiscal 
year's information shall be prepared pursuant to paragraph (a) of this Item. Such discussions 
may be combined. 


2. In preparing the discussion and analysis required by this paragraph (b), the registrant may 
presume that users of the interim financial information have read or have access to the 
discussion and analysis required by paragraph (a) for the preceding fiscal year. 


3. The discussion and analysis required by this paragraph (b) is required to focus only on 
material changes. Where the interim financial statements reveal material changes from period 
to period in one or more significant line items, the causes for the changes shall be described if 
they have not already been disclosed: Provided, however, That if the causes for a change in 
one line item also relate to other line items, no repetition is required. Registrants need not recite 
the amounts of changes from period to period which are readily computable from the financial 
statements. The discussion shall not merely repeat numerical data contained in the financial 
statements. The information provided shall include that which is available to the registrant 
without undue effort or expense and which does not clearly appear in the registrant's 
condensed interim financial statements. 


4. The registrant's discussion of material changes in results of operations shall identify any 
significant elements of the registrant's income or loss from continuing operations which do not 
arise from or are not necessarily representative of the registrant's ongoing business. 
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5. The registrant shall discuss any seasonal aspects of its business which have had a material 
effect upon its financial condition or results of operation. 


6. Any forward-looking information supplied is expressly covered by the safe harbor rule for 
projections. See Rule 175 under the Securities Act [17 CFR 230. 175], Rule 3b-6 under the 
Exchange Act [17 CFR 249.3b-6] and Securities Act Release No. 6084 (June 25, 1979) (44 FR 
38810). 


7. The registrant is not required to include the table required by paragraph (a)(5) of this Item for 
interim periods. Instead, the registrant should disclose material changes outside the ordinary 
course of the registrant's business in the specified contractual obligations during the interim 
period. 


(c) Safe harbor. (1) The safe harbor provided in section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 (15 U.S.C. 
77z-2) and section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78u-5) (“statutory safe 
harbors”) shall apply to forward-looking information provided pursuant to paragraphs (a)(4) and (5) 
of this Item, provided that the disclosure is made by: an issuer; a person acting on behalf of the 
issuer; an outside reviewer retained by the issuer making a statement on behalf of the issuer; or an 
underwriter, with respect to information provided by the issuer or information derived from 
information provided by the issuer. 


(2) For purposes of paragraph (c) of this Item only: 


(i) All information required by paragraphs (a)(4) and (5) of this Item is deemed to be a forward 
looking statement as that term is defined in the statutory safe harbors, except for historical facts. 


(ii) With respect to paragraph (a)(4) of this Item, the meaningful cautionary statements element of 
the statutory safe harbors will be satisfied if a registrant satisfies all requirements of that same 
paragraph (a)(4) of this Item. 


(d) Smaller reporting companies. A smaller reporting company, as defined by § 229.10(f)(1), may 
provide the information required in paragraph (a)(3)(iv) of this Item for the last two most recent fiscal 
years of the registrant if it provides financial information on net sales and revenues and on income 
from continuing operations for only two years. A smaller reporting company is not required to 
provide the information required by paragraph (a)(5) of this Item. 


[47 FR 11401, Mar. 16, 1982, as amended at 47 FR 29839, July 9, 1982; 47 FR 54768, Dec. 6, 
1982; 52 FR 30919, Aug. 18, 1987; 68 FR 5999, Feb. 5, 2003; 73 FR 958, Jan. 4, 2008; 76 FR 
50120, Aug. 12, 2011]  












Regulation S-X, Rule 4-08(h) 


(h) Income tax expense. (1) Disclosure shall be made in the income statement or a note thereto, of 
(i) the components of income (loss) before income tax expense (benefit) as either domestic or 
foreign; (ii) the components of income tax expense, including (A) taxes currently payable and (B) the 
net tax effects, as applicable, of timing differences (indicate separately the amount of the estimated 
tax effect of each of the various types of timing differences, such as depreciation, warranty costs, 
etc., where the amount of each such tax effect exceeds five percent of the amount computed by 
multiplying the income before tax by the applicable statutory Federal income tax rate; other 
differences may be combined.)  


Note: 
Amounts applicable to United States Federal income taxes, to foreign income taxes and the 
other income taxes shall be stated separately for each major component. Amounts applicable 
to foreign income (loss) and amounts applicable to foreign or other income taxes which are 
less than five percent of the total of income before taxes or the component of tax expense, 
respectively, need not be separately disclosed. For purposes of this rule, foreign income (loss) 
is defined as income (loss) generated from a registrant's foreign operations, i.e., operations 
that are located outside of the registrant's home country. 


(2) Provide a reconciliation between the amount of reported total income tax expense (benefit) and 
the amount computed by multiplying the income (loss) before tax by the applicable statutory Federal 
income tax rate, showing the estimated dollar amount of each of the underlying causes for the 
difference. If no individual reconciling item amounts to more than five percent of the amount 
computed by multiplying the income before tax by the applicable statutory Federal income tax rate, 
and the total difference to be reconciled is less than five percent of such computed amount, no 
reconciliation need be provided unless it would be significant in appraising the trend of earnings. 
Reconciling items that are individually less than five percent of the computed amount may be 
aggregated in the reconciliation. The reconciliation may be presented in percentages rather than in 
dollar amounts. Where the reporting person is a foreign entity, the income tax rate in that person's 
country of domicile should normally be used in making the above computation, but different rates 
should not be used for subsidiaries or other segments of a reporting entity. When the rate used by a 
reporting person is other than the United States Federal corporate income tax rate, the rate used 
and the basis for using such rate shall be disclosed. 


(3) Paragraphs (h) (1) and (2) of this section shall be applied in the following manner to financial 
statements which reflect the adoption of FASB ASC Topic 740, Income Taxes. 


(i) The disclosures required by paragraph (h)(1)(ii) of this section and by the parenthetical instruction 
at the end of paragraph (h)(1) of this section and by the introductory sentence of paragraph (h)(2) of 
this section shall not apply. 


(ii) The instructional note between paragraphs (h) (1) and (2) of this section and the balance of the 
requirements of paragraphs (h) (1) and (2) of this section shall continue to apply. 


  








SAB Topic 11.C 


C. Tax Holidays 


Facts: Company C conducts business in a foreign jurisdiction which attracts industry by 
granting a "holiday" from income taxes for a specified period. 


Question: Does the staff generally request disclosure of this fact? 


Interpretive Response: Yes. In such event, a note must (1) disclose the aggregate dollar and per 
share effects of the tax holiday and (2) briefly describe the factual circumstances including the 
date on which the special tax status will terminate.







